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July 2004
The ELNEC project, a national
initiative to improve end-of-life
care, completed its fourth year
bringing the total number of
nurse educators who complet-
ed this train-the-trainer
program to 1,632.

August 2004
AACN Executive Director
Geraldine “Polly” Bednash was
named to Modern Healthcare
Magazine’s 100 Most Powerful
People in Healthcare list.

September 2004
AACN endorsed the final
report of the Sullivan
Commission on Diversity in the
Healthcare Workforce which
called for health profession
schools to intensify their efforts
to increase diversity in their
student and faculty populations.

October 2004
At the Fall Semiannual Meeting
on October 25, 2004,AACN
members voted to endorse the
Position Statement on the Practice
Doctorate in Nursing which rec-
ognizes the Doctor of Nursing
Practice degree as the highest
level of preparation for clinical
practice. Member institutions
also voted to move the current
level of preparation necessary
for advanced nursing practice
roles from the master’s degree
to the doctorate level by the
year 2015.

November 2004
AACN received funding from
the Helene Fuld Health Trust 
to investigate the use of simula-
tion technology to assess the
competency of nurses gradu-
ating from baccalaureate
programs and to enhance 
education quality.

December 2004
AACN released preliminary
data from the 2004 survey of
nursing schools which showed
that enrollment in entry-level
baccalaureate programs in nurs-
ing increased by 10.6 percent
from 2003 to 2004. Final data
released in March would show
an actual enrollment increase of
14.1 percent.

January 2005
The Clinical Nurse Leader
Implementation Task Force
announced that five regional
meetings were planned to assist
education-practice partnerships
in their work to prepare and
employ this new nursing clinician.

February 2005
With funding provided by The
John A. Hartford Foundation,
AACN awarded grant monies
to 18 nursing schools across
the country to increase the
pool of nurses prepared as
experts in providing health care
to older adults. Grant monies
would be used to provide
scholarships for over 70 new
graduate students pursuing
careers as geriatric advanced
practice nurses.

March 2005
Dr. Julie Gerberding, Director 
of the Centers for Disease
Control and Prevention, pre-
sented the 2005 Nursing
Spectrum-Gannett Foundation
Lectureship titled Policy and
Politics in Nursing during AACN’s
Annual Meeting.

April 2005
In an effort to address the
nurse faculty shortage,AACN
and Monster.com announced a
new scholarship program specif-
ically for students enrolled in
fast-track baccalaureate to doc-
toral nursing programs.

May 2005
AACN issued a public state-
ment of support for a new
position from the American
Organization of Nurse
Executives which called for
moving the education level of
registered nurses to the bac-
calaureate level in the future.

June 2005
AACN released a new report
on the widespread use of artic-
ulation agreements designed to
facilitate the transition from
associate degree and baccalau-
reate level nursing programs.

Highlights of the YearH
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Our Members
In 1969, the American Association of Colleges

of Nursing (AACN) was established to answer

the need for an organization dedicated exclu-

sively to furthering nursing education in

America’s universities and four-year colleges.

Representing schools of nursing at 587 public

and private institutions, AACN is the national

voice for baccalaureate- and graduate-degree

nursing education programs.

Our Mission
A unique asset for the nation, AACN works

to establish quality standards for bachelor’s-

and graduate-degree nursing education; assist

deans and directors to implement those

standards; influence the nursing profession to

improve health care; and promote public

support of baccalaureate and graduate

education, research, and practice in nursing —

the nation’s largest health care profession.

This report highlights the association’s FY

2005 initiatives to help member schools meet

the nation’s demand for innovative and

expanded nursing care.
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The Evolution of Professional Nursing Education

“The knowledge base for nurses must be enhanced to assure that their education prepares

them appropriately and adequately for the practice challenges they will face now and in

the future.  For AACN, this reality created a clear understanding that new education and

practice models must be forged to prepare a workforce that can address complex needs

and serve as the surveillance system in healthcare.”

~ Jean E. Bartels & Geraldine “Polly” Bednash
Nursing Administration Quarterly, January 2005

This statement illustrates the path AACN has traveled this year in our collective work to reshape
nursing education and meet the challenges confronting our profession. Hearing the calls from the
Institute of Medicine and other authorities to transform the preparation of all health professionals,
AACN member institutions are embracing the need for change and leading the way toward a new
vision of nursing education.

In October 2004, the endorsement of the Position Statement on the Practice Doctorate in Nursing
was a bold step in re-envisioning advanced nursing practice. With this historic decision, AACN
recognizes the Doctor of Nursing Practice (DNP) degree as the highest level of preparation for
clinical practice. Two AACN task forces are working diligently to address the many questions and
issues raised by the new position. This work centers on defining curricular expectations and creat-
ing a plan for moving from master’s to doctoral level preparation for advanced nursing practice
roles by the year 2015.

The Clinical Nurse Leader (CNL) demonstration project also shifted into high gear this year with
90 education-practice partnerships now working together to introduce this emerging role into the
health care arena.  Dozens of master’s level CNL programs are now enrolling students while prac-
tice settings are redesigning systems to accommodate these clinicians. 

Though much attention has been paid to preparing nurses at the advanced practice level, AACN
remains committed to supporting and strengthening baccalaureate nursing programs. The AACN
Board of Directors recently reaffirmed its support for the baccalaureate degree as the minimum
level of preparation needed for entry into professional nursing practice. AACN’s ongoing support
for the baccalaureate degree is evident in our work with the University HealthSystem Consortium
on the post-baccalaureate residency project; our experimentation with simulation-based training
and assessment tools for baccalaureate graduates; our advocacy work to secure more federal fund-
ing for entry-level nurses; and our research on articulation agreements with pre-baccalaureate
nursing programs.

AACN applauds all of our member institutions for their work this year to strengthen contempo-
rary nursing education and prepare a highly educated nursing workforce. We stand ready to
support your efforts by providing the resources, data, and guidance needed for you to meet the
challenges and reap the rewards that come with change.

Jean E. Bartels, PhD, RN Geraldine “Polly” Bednash, PhD, RN, FAAN
President Executive Director

Letter from the President and
the Executive Director
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Annual State of the Schools
Findings explored in the 2005 State of the Schools are based on responses from 

590 (85.9 percent) of the nation’s nursing schools with bachelor’s- and graduate-

degree programs that were surveyed in fall 2004. Data reflect actual counts;

projections are not used.

Entry-Level Baccalaureate
Enrollments Increase by 
14.1 Percent
Enrollments in entry-level baccalaureate pro-
grams in nursing rose by 14.1 percent in fall
2004 over the previous year, marking the fourth
consecutive year of enrollment increases. This
upward trend follows six years of steady enroll-
ment declines from 1995 to 2000 (Figure 1).

AACN determines enrollment trends by com-
paring data from the same schools reporting in
both 2003 and 2004. Data show that nursing
school enrollments are up in all regions of the
United States with the greatest increase found

in the North Atlantic states where enrollments
in entry-level baccalaureate programs rose by
21.5 percent. Increases were also realized in
the Midwest, South, and West where enroll-
ments rose by 12.5 percent, 12.2 percent, and
10.2 percent, respectively. The survey found
that total enrollment in all nursing programs
leading to the baccalaureate degree, both 
entry-level and RN degree completion pro-
grams, was 147,170, up from 126,981 in 2003
(Figures 2 and 3).

Enrollments Rise in 
RN-to-Baccalaureate Programs 
Given the calls for a better educated nurse
workforce, AACN was pleased to see an
increase in the number of registered nurses
(RN) pursuing baccalaureate level education.
RN-to-Baccalaureate programs are specifically
designed to enable nurses prepared with a
diploma or associate’s degree to earn a bac-
calaureate degree and enhance their clinical
skills. From 2003 to 2004, enrollments in RN-
to-Baccalaureate programs increased by 6.2
percent or 1,826 students, which makes this
the second year of enrollment increases in
these degree completion programs.

“Research from Dr. Linda Aiken at the
University of Pennsylvania and Dr. Carole
Estabrooks from the University of Alberta
confirms that baccalaureate nursing education
has a direct impact on patient outcomes and
saving lives,” said AACN Executive Director
Geraldine “Polly” Bednash. “AACN encour-
ages nurses prepared in diploma and associate
degree programs to advance their education in
the interest of patient safety and as a mecha-

FIGURE 1:
Percentage Change in
Enrollments in Entry-Level
Baccalaureate Nursing
Programs: 1994–2004

SOURCE: American Association of Colleges of
Nursing, Research and Data Center, 1994-2004.
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nism for career advancement.” Accord-
ing to AACN data, there are currently
600 RN-to-Baccalaureate programs, 
and 137 schools reporting having RN-
to-Master’s Degree programs (Figures 
2 and 3).

Interest Runs High in
Accelerated Programs
For the second year, AACN’s annual sur-
vey captured data related to accelerated
nursing programs, which are designed to
transition adults with baccalaureate and
graduate degrees in other fields into
nursing. Accelerated baccalaureate pro-
grams, which may be completed in
12-18 months, provide the fastest route
to licensure as a registered nurse for
individuals with a prior degree. These
intense programs have high admission
standards, require continuous study
without session breaks, and incorporate
the same number of clinical hours as tra-
ditional programs.

Last year, 22 new accelerated baccalau-
reate programs were launched, bringing the
total number of reported programs offered
nationwide to 151. This total represents a 30.4
percent increase since fall 2002 when 105 such
programs were reported. AACN’s latest survey
found that 6,090 students were enrolled in
accelerated baccalaureate programs while
another 2,422 students graduated from these
programs as entry-level clinicians last year.

Graduate Enrollments and 
the Nurse Faculty Shortage
The latest AACN survey found that both
enrollments and graduations increased in mas-
ter’s and doctoral degree nursing programs last
year. Enrollments in master’s degree programs
rose 13.7 percent (4,929 students) bringing the
total student population to 42,751. In
research-focused doctoral programs, enroll-
ments increased by 7.3 percent (229 students)
with the total student population at 3,439.
Ending a downward trend, the number of

graduates from master’s degree and doctoral
programs increased slightly in 2004 by 6.9 
percent (669 students) and 2 percent (8 stu-
dents), respectively (Figures 2 and 3).

“Since the doctoral degree is the desired cre-
dential for a nurse educator, an increase of
only 8 additional graduates last year is very
disappointing news,” said AACN President
Jean E. Bartels. “AACN will continue to work
with the larger healthcare community to advo-
cate for more federal funding for doctoral level
education and with nurse educators to identify
creative ways to expand enrollment at the
graduate level.”

The slight enrollment increase in graduate pro-
grams is good news given the growing concern
about the nurse faculty shortage. According to
AACN’s white paper titled Faculty Shortages in
Baccalaureate and Graduate Nursing 
Programs, the shortage of nurse educators is
expected to intensify over the next 20 years as
significant numbers of faculty members retire
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FIGURE 2:Year at a
Glance: Enrollments and
Graduations in Nursing
Programs 
(590 schools reporting)

SOURCE: American Association of Colleges of
Nursing. 2004–2005 Enrollment and
Graduations in Baccalaureate and Graduate
Programs in Nursing.



FIGURE 3a:
Enrollment Changes in the
Same Schools Reporting in
Both 2003 and 2004
(530 schools reporting)

SOURCE: American Association of Colleges 
of Nursing. 2004–2005 Enrollment and Graduations
in Baccalaureate and Graduate Programs in Nursing.

and fewer nurses with advanced educa-
tional preparation are choosing careers in
academia. Given the competition for nurs-
es prepared at advanced levels and the
salary differential between positions in
higher education and private practice, the
nurse faculty shortage is expected to con-
tinue and impact nursing education
programs at all levels.

Qualified Students 
Turned Away During Shortage
Though interest in baccalaureate and grad-
uate nursing education programs is high,
not all qualified applications are being
accepted at four-year colleges and universi-
ties. In fact, AACN’s survey found that
32,797 qualified applicants were not
accepted at schools of nursing last year
due primarily to a shortage of faculty and
resource constraints. Within this total,
applicants turned away include 29,425
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FIGURE 3b:
Changes in Graduations for
the Same Schools Reporting in
Both 2003 and 2004
(530 schools reporting)

SOURCE: American Association of Colleges 
of Nursing. 2004–2005 Enrollment and Graduations
in Baccalaureate and Graduate Programs in Nursing.

continues
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11.9%
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American

Indian/Alaskan
Native

5.7%
Asian/Hawaiian/
Pacific Islander

76.2%
White

78.2%
White
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Hispanic 
or Latino

10.3%
Black 

or African- 
American

0.6%
American

Indian/Alaskan
Native

5.9%
Asian/Hawaiian/
Pacific Islander

from entry-level baccalaureate programs; 422
from RN-to-Baccalaureate programs; 2,748
from master’s programs; and 202 from 
doctoral programs.

The top reasons reported by nursing schools
for not accepting all qualified students into
entry-level baccalaureate programs, include
insufficient faculty (76.1 percent), admissions
seats filled (75 percent), and insufficient clini-
cal teaching space (54.5 percent). In the
2004-2005 academic year, 122,194 completed
applications to entry-level baccalaureate nurs-
ing programs were received at schools of

nursing with 84,002 meeting admission criteria
and 54,577 applications accepted. The applica-
tion acceptance rate was 44.7 percent.

Despite these challenges, nursing schools
across the country are finding creative ways to
expand student capacity. Many schools are
forming partnerships with clinical agencies to
support mutual needs and bridge the faculty
gap. Other strategies include lobbying for con-
tinued state and federal monies, launching
accelerated programs, and stepping up efforts
to expand diversity and recruit new popula-
tions into nursing.
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FIGURE 4a:
Racial/Ethnic Diversity in Nursing
Education Programs, Fall 2004

Enrollment in Undergraduate Programs
(578 schools reporting)

FIGURE 4b:
Racial/Ethnic Diversity in Nursing
Education Programs, Fall 2004

Enrollment in Master’s Programs
(379 schools reporting)

SOURCE: American Association of Colleges of Nursing. 2004–2005 Enrollment and
Graduations in Baccalaureate and Graduate Programs in Nursing.

SOURCE: American Association of Colleges of Nursing. 2004–2005 Enrollment and
Graduations in Baccalaureate and Graduate Programs in Nursing.
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Minority Representation 
in Nursing Programs
Representation of racial/ethnic minority
groups in nursing programs remained strong
in fall 2004 with minority group members
comprising 24.3 percent of the undergraduate
student population (Figure 4). 

In 2004-2005, minority group representation in
entry-level baccalaureate programs was distrib-
uted as follows: 6.4 percent Asian, Native
Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander; 11.7 per-
cent Black or African American; 0.7 percent
American Indian or Alaskan Native; and 5.6
percent Hispanic or Latino. In master’s nursing

programs, representation of
racial/ethnic minority
groups was 21.8 percent,
including 5.9 percent Asian,
Native Hawaiian or other
Pacific Islander; 10.3 per-
cent Black or African
American; 0.7 percent
American Indian or Alaskan
Native; and 4.9 percent
Hispanic or Latino. 

Men continue to be under-
represented in nursing
schools with only 9.0 
percent of students in bac-
calaureate programs being
male. In graduate programs,

10.0 percent of master’s degree students and
6.7 percent of doctoral (research-focused) stu-
dents are male.

Nursing Faculty Population
Nursing schools nationwide are struggling to
fill faculty positions in an effort to accommo-
date all qualified students. In fall 2004, the
total reported full-time faculty population in
baccalaureate and higher degree programs
reached 10,967 (575 schools reporting). As a
group, nursing faculty are rapidly aging with

the mean age across all ranks set at 51.6 years.
Specifically, the average age of doctorally-pre-
pared faculty by rank was 57.3 years for
professors, 55.0 years for associate professors,
and 51.0 years for assistant professors.

The survey found that the majority of nursing
faculty are white women. Only 9.8 percent 
of full-time faculty come from racial/ethnic
minority groups, and only 4.4 percent are
male. In terms of educational preparation, 
47.9 percent of nursing school faculty are 
doctorally prepared with 29.4 percent holding
nursing doctorates and 18.5 percent holding
doctorates in related disciplines.

AACN Data Collection
AACN’s 24th Annual Survey of Institutions
with Baccalaureate and Higher Degree Nursing
Programs is conducted each year by the associ-
ation’s Research Center. Information from the
survey forms the basis for the nation’s premier
database on trends in enrollments and gradua-
tions, student and faculty demographics, and
faculty and deans’ salaries. Complete survey
results were compiled in three separate reports:

❖ 2004-2005 Enrollment and Graduations 
in Baccalaureate and Graduate Programs
in Nursing

❖ 2004-2005 Salaries of Instructional 
and Administrative Nursing Faculty in
Baccalaureate and Graduate Programs 
in Nursing 

❖ 2004-2005 Salaries of Deans in
Baccalaureate and Graduate Programs 
in Nursing 

To order the most current reports, see
www.aacn.nche.edu/IDS/datarep.htm. ❖

Men Enrolled in 
Nursing Programs



In practice, the CNL oversees the care coordi-
nation of a distinct group of patients and
actively provides direct patient care in complex
situations. This master’s degree-prepared clini-
cian puts evidence-based practice into action to
ensure that patients benefit from the latest
innovations in care delivery. The CNL evaluates
patient outcomes, assesses cohort risk, and has
the decision-making authority to change care
plans when necessary. The CNL is a leader in
the health care delivery system, and the imple-
mentation of this role will vary across settings.

To support the creation of this new nursing
role, AACN has launched a national pilot 
project involving 90 education-practice part-
nerships in 35 states and Puerto Rico. Partners
are working together to develop master’s
degree programs to prepare CNLs, integrate
this clinician into the health care system, and
evaluate outcomes. 

To find out more about the Clinical Nurse Leader,
see www.aacn.nche.edu/cnl.

The Clinical Nurse LeaderSM or CNLSM is a new nursing role being developed by AACN

in collaboration with leaders from the education and practice arenas.AACN is advanc-

ing the CNL to improve the quality of patient care and to better prepare nurses to

thrive in the health care system.The CNL role emerged following research and discus-

sion with stakeholder groups as a way to engage highly skilled clinicians in

outcomes-based practice and quality improvement.
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Clinical Nurse Leader

C L I N I C A L  N U R S E  L E A D E R
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CNL Project Developments
❖ At AACN’s invitation, the American

Nurses Association (ANA) has agreed to
join the CNL task forces. “The CNL pro-
posal has significant implications for the
profession,” said ANA President Barbara
A. Blakeney. “We appreciate AACN’s lead-
ership in proposing this new role and are
grateful for the opportunity to have ANA
represented on these task forces, which
will help shape it.”

❖ AACN invited the American Organization
of Nurse Executives (AONE) to join the
CNL Implementation Task Force, and
Karen Haase-Herrick, AONE Past-
President, has joined the project. Since one
of AONE’s major initiatives is the redesign
of patient care delivery models for the
future, there is good synergy for both asso-
ciations in this work. The AONE Board
believes that innovative pilots such as the
CNL are critical to informing the field for
the future.

❖ From January-April 2005, the CNL
Implementation Task Force held the first
series of regional meetings to assist educa-
tion-practice partnerships in their work to
develop CNL programs. Meetings were
held in Washington, DC, San Diego,
Atlanta, Boston and Chicago. Represent-
atives from 15 state boards of nursing
attended these meetings as well as 

stakeholders from the ANA, AONE and
other groups.

❖ In response to calls for more clarification,
AACN has developed a Working
Statement Comparing the Clinical Nurse
Leader and Clinical Nurse Specialist Roles.
Joan Stanley, AACN’s Senior Director of
Education Policy, worked with a team of
CNS experts to develop a statement that
examined the similarities, differences and
complementarities of the two roles. See
www.aacn.nche.edu/CNL/pdf/CNLCNS
ComparisonTable.pdf.

❖ In late summer, AACN presented the CNL
Faculty Development Workshop in con-
junction with the Plexus Institute at the
University of Kansas School of Nursing in
Kansas City, KS. More than 100 academic
and clinical faculty participating in the
CNL project attended the workshop which
facilitated the design of master’s curricu-
lum, the development of didactic and
clinical experiences, and the preparation 
of preceptors.

Want updates on 
the Clinical Nurse Leader?
Regular updates on the CNL initiative are fea-
tured in AACN News Watch, a monthly email
newsletter.To subscribe, send an email request 
to apathak@aacn.nche.edu.

C L I N I C A L  N U R S E  L E A D E R

“Nursing education must inevitably and powerfully
change if we are to adequately prepare the next

generation to participate as full partners in shaping
the future and improving patient care outcomes.”

~ AACN President Jean E. Bartels and Executive
Director Geraldine “Polly” Bednash, Nursing
Administration Quarterly, January 2005



On October 25, 2004, AACN member institutions endorsed the Position Statement

on the Practice Doctorate in Nursing which was brought forward by the Task Force

on the Practice Doctorate.With this historic action, members voted to move the edu-

cational preparation for advanced nursing practice in the future from the master’s

degree to the doctorate level by the year 2015.
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Doctor of Nursing Practice

Currently, most advanced practice nurses
(APNs), including Nurse Practitioners, Clinical
Nurse Specialists, Nurse Midwives, and Nurse
Anesthetists, are prepared in master’s degree
programs that often carry a credit load equiva-
lent to doctoral degrees in the other health
professions. AACN’s new position statement
calls for educating APNs and other nurses
seeking top clinical roles in Doctor of Nursing
Practice (DNP) programs. The changing
demands of this nation’s complex health care
environment require the highest level of scien-
tific knowledge and practice expertise to assure
high quality patient outcomes.

The practice doctorate is designed for nurses
seeking a terminal degree in nursing practice,
and offers an alternative to research-focused
doctoral programs (i.e. PhD programs).
Though only a handful of practice doctorates
currently exist, many new programs are taking
shape nationwide, and several have expressed
interest in seeking accreditation. The
Commission on Collegiate Nursing Education
(CCNE) agreed to initiate a process for the
accreditation for practice doctorates.

For more about the DNP including links 
to the position statement and FAQs, see
www.aacn.nche.edu/DNP.

DNP Developments
❖ Since adopting the position statement, the

AACN Board of Directors formed two
task forces to work toward this new vision
for nursing education and practice. The
Task Force on the Roadmap to the DNP is
charged with examining DNP program

development, master’s-to-doctoral transi-
tion programs, regulations and licensure,
reimbursement for APNs, and other issues.
The Task Force on the Essentials of
Nursing Education for the DNP is charged
with developing a statement of the essential
curricular elements and competencies that
must be present in programs that offer the
DNP degree. To complete this work, the
task force will review curricular content
and competency expectations articulated in
the existing “Essentials” documents and
other relevant sources, and seek input from
diverse stakeholder groups. 

❖ There are currently nine nursing practice
doctorates accepting students nationwide,
including programs at Case Western
Reserve University, Columbia University,
Drexel University, Rush University, Tri-
College University, University of Colorado
Health Sciences Center, University of
Kentucky, University of South Carolina,
and University of Tennessee Health
Science Center. An informal AACN survey
found that more than 40 additional DNP
programs were under development last
year. See www.aacn.nche.edu/DNP/
DNPProgramList.htm.

Want updates on the 
transition to the DNP?
Regular updates on the DNP are featured 
in AACN News Watch, a monthly email
newsletter.To subscribe, send an email request 
to apathak@aacn.nche.edu.

D O C T O R  O F  N U R S I N G  P R A C T I C E
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Quality Initiatives
In addition to the CNL and DNP projects, AACN is moving forward with initiatives 

to improve the quality of nursing care by re-envisioning traditional nursing roles,

strengthening nursing education programs, and striving to create a more highly edu-

cated nursing workforce.This emphasis on quality comes in response to calls from the

Institute of Medicine, the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, Agency on Healthcare

Research and Quality, and other authorities to focus on patient safety issues and

transform care delivery.

AACN is actively collaborating with the
University HealthSystem Consortium (UHC) on
the development and evaluation of a one-year,
Post-Baccalaureate Nursing Residency
Program. This partnership was stimulated by
UHC chief nurse officers who identified the
need for a stable workforce of better educated
nurses. Currently, there are 29 practice and
education partnerships that are engaged in the
residency program. Additionally, the
Commission on Collegiate Nursing Education

is collaborating with AACN and the UHC to
develop an accreditation process to assure that
these programs are sophisticated, high quality,
and innovative in providing opportunities to
develop more skilled clinicians. 

Through the Advanced Practice Nursing (APN)
Consensus Process, work continued this year
on the development of a consensus statement
regarding APN education, regulation, special-
ization and sub-specialization, and certification.
AACN hosted three meetings of the working
group and several conference calls. The
American Nurses Association (ANA) and
AACN co-hosted a meeting in December 2004
to discuss these issues. AACN President Jean E.
Bartels and ANA President Barbara Blakeney
led the meeting. Attendees encouraged support
for the work begun on the APN consensus
process and urged all to continue working 
with AACN and the Alliance on Nursing
Accreditation to provide a uniform statement
regarding the issues. 

The 15-member Sullivan Commission on
Diversity in the Healthcare Workforce released
its final report in September 2005, titled
Missing Persons: Minorities in the Health
Professions, which found that though nursing
has made strides in recruiting and graduating
nurses that reflect the patient population, more
must be done before equal representation is
realized. AACN Executive Director Geraldine
“Polly” Bednash represented nursing on this
expert commission. In a press statement,

continues
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AACN encouraged member institu-
tions and the larger nursing
community to adopt the Sullivan
Commission’s recommendations
and intensify efforts to increase
diversity in programs that prepare
nurses and other health profession-
als. For a full copy of the report,
see www.aacn.nche.edu/Media/
NewsReleases/SullivanComm04.htm.

With funding provided by the
Helene Fuld Health Trust, AACN
has developed an executive leader-
ship institute for new and aspiring
deans titled the Leadership for
Academic Nursing Program. This
professional development experi-
ence encompasses an assessment
and evaluation of leadership skills,
opportunities for strategic networking and case
study development, consultation to achieve
long-term goals, and identification of key part-
nerships. This year, 59 Fellows were selected to
participate in the Leadership for Academic
Nursing program. The 2004 Fellows represent
a wide cross-section of nurse faculty and
administrators from both large and small insti-
tutions. A directory of Fellows is posted on
AACN’s Web site at www.aacn.nche.edu/
Education/fuld.htm.

AACN was approached this year by
Partnerships for Quality Education (PQE), a

national initiative of the Robert Wood Johnson
Foundation, to join with the Association of
American Medical Colleges’ Institute for
Improving Clinical Care in a collaborative ven-
ture called ACT II or Achieving Competence
Today. Through this initiative, a multidiscipli-
nary group of medical residents and nursing
students, working in active collaboration with
senior management in their academic institu-
tions, will become effective agents for
improving care using a Web-based tool. The
project will give participants the skills needed
to identify and solve system problems that will
lead to better and safer clinical care.  

Q U A L I T Y  I N I T I A T I V E S

“Efforts to address the nursing shortage 
will fail unless we can ensure that all qualified
nursing students seeking graduate education 

can be accommodated.”
~ Jean E. Bartels, AACN President, 

AHA News, March 21, 2005
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AACN has received new funding to investigate
the use of simulation technology to assess the
competency of graduating nurses and enhance
education quality. Funding provided by the
Helene Fuld Health Trust will be used to study
and validate a simulation-based training and
assessment tool adapted specifically for nurs-
ing by the firm Simulis. Through this new
venture, AACN will explore how online learn-
ing technologies can be used to measure
clinical competency among baccalaureate nurs-
ing program graduates based on AACN’s
Essentials document.

The Secretary’s Award for Innovations in
Health Promotion and Disease Prevention rec-
ognizes forward-thinking proposals by health
professions students. This national awards pro-
gram is sponsored by HRSA’s Bureau of Health
Professions in collaboration with the
Federation of Associations of Schools of the
Health Professions, and is coordinated by
AACN. This year, 74 papers were submitted
for review, with 33 papers representing various
nursing schools around the country. An award
was presented in 2005 to nursing students
from the University of Maryland.

AACN Executive Director Geraldine “Polly”
Bednash was asked to serve on the advisory
body for the National Coalition of Ethnic
Minority Nurse Association’s (NCEMNA)
Nurse Scientist Stimulation Project funded
through the National Institute of General
Medical Sciences. This project is designed to
expand the number of ethnic minority nurse
researchers and create a series of mentorship
and support activities to stimulate interest in a
career as a nurse researcher. This project also is
congruent with the goal of AACN to promote
leadership development in underrepresented
minority nurses and expand the number of
individuals from diverse backgrounds avail-
able to fill leadership roles in nursing.

AACN was approached by Greta Sherman
with TMP Worldwide, a leading advertising
and communications firm owned by
Monster.com, about launching a major faculty
development scholarship program in fall
2005. The Monster-AACN Nursing Faculty
Scholarship was established to award $25,000
in funding to students enrolled in baccalaure-
ate to doctoral programs who agree to serve
as nursing faculty after graduation. The
awards program began accepting applications
in fall 2005. ❖

A N N U A L  S T A T E  O F  T H E  S C H O O L S

Faculty Leadership Networks
To better engage all constituents in these 
quality initiatives, AACN is strengthening ties
with nursing school faculty by establishing
seven leadership networks. Though AACN has
always served the entire academic unit, the
networks will provide new opportunities for
leadership development and serve as forums
for faculty to address quality issues as they
relate to each area. Launching in summer
2005, the networks include:

❖ Organizational Leadership

❖ Instructional Leadership

❖ Research Leadership 

❖ Practice Leadership

❖ Graduate Nursing Recruitment
Professionals 

❖ Business Officers

❖ Nursing Advancement Professionals

For more information about the networks,
visit the Networks tab on the AACN 
Web site found at www.aacn.nche.edu/
Networks/index.htm.

13Q U A L I T Y  I N I T I A T I V E S



Advocacy
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AACN’s Government Affairs Committee and
staff are engaged in advocacy efforts to
increase funding for Nursing Workforce
Development programs (Title VIII of the Public
Health Service Act). Though federal funding
for Title VIII programs at the Division of
Nursing has almost doubled in the past five
years, the nation is facing a budget deficit that
may make it difficult to avoid future funding
cuts. In FY 2005, Nursing Workforce
Development received $150.7 million in fund-
ing which reflects an $8.75 million increase
over the previous year. In a year when funding
for health programs were cut, this increase was
indicative of legislator’s understanding that the
nursing shortage must be addressed. In addi-
tion to Title VIII, this fiscal year also brought a
$3.3 million funding increase for the National
Institute of Nursing Research and an increase

of $15 million in funding for the Agency for
Healthcare Research and Quality.

In April 2005, Dr. Harriet Feldman, dean of
the Lienhard School of Nursing at Pace
University in New York, presented testimony
before the U.S. Congress on the need for more
federal funding to address the nursing faculty
shortage as recommended by AACN. Dr.
Feldman urged members of the House
Appropriations Subcommittee on Labor,
Health and Human Services, and Education 
to increase funding for the existing Nurse
Faculty Loan Program and to support the
Nurse Education, Expansion and Development
(NEED) Act which was introduced by Reps.
Nita Lowey (D-NY-18), Peter King (R-NY-3),
and Lois Capps (D-CA-23). For more details,
see www.aacn.nche.edu/Media/NewsReleases/
2005/FeldmanTestimony.htm.

Throughout the year, AACN sent regular
Information Updates to keep members abreast
of breaking news and calls to action.
Government Affairs staff worked to forge
stronger alliances with legislative advocates
from member schools in an effort to share
resources and unify messages. Fact sheets, 
legislative summaries and side-by-side compar-
isons of pending legislation are all available to
assist advocacy efforts. Members were also
sent details on Opportunity Alerts, which
include announcements of grants, fellowships,
scholarships, and other funding sources of fed-
eral support for nursing programs, students,
and research. ❖

Advocacy
AACN actively works with Congress and the larger nursing community to shape 

legislation that supports nursing education and research.This year, the association

focused on increasing funding for programs designed to alleviate the nurse faculty

shortage, expand enrollments in entry-level nursing programs, and increase funding

for graduate education.

For the latest details on AACN’s advocacy efforts including updated information on 
the current fiscal year’s appropriations process, see www.aacn.nche.edu/Government.

A D V O C A C Y

Representative Nita Lowey from New York and Harriet
Feldman, dean of the Lienhard School of Nursing at
Pace University
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The two John A Hartford

Foundation sponsored proj-

ects for curriculum innovations

and student scholarship support

continue to progress in their

work to enhance nursing educa-

tion and the care of older adults.

The Enhancing Geriatric Nursing
Education program is designed to
increase geriatric nursing content in
baccalaureate and advanced practice
nursing programs. AACN’s project
team is working with faculty in 20
baccalaureate and 10 advanced prac-
tice nursing programs to enhance
curricula and generate models for
other nursing programs to adopt. The
Creating Careers in Geriatric
Advanced Practice Nursing program
provides scholarship monies to schools to sup-
port students who pursue geriatric advanced
practice nursing degrees. Competitive scholar-
ship funds were awarded to over 160 students
at 23 schools of nursing.

In January 2005, AACN awarded new grant
monies to 19 nursing schools across the coun-
try to increase the pool of nurses prepared as
experts in providing health care to older
adults. This $1.8 million in new funding was
provided by the Hartford Foundation to
extend the reach of the Creating Careers pro-
gram. Along with increasing the number and
diversity of geriatric nurses, this initiative pro-
motes opportunities for nurses to pursue
careers in geriatric advanced practice nursing,
thereby improving access and quality of care
for our aging population. Schools awarded
grant monies this year include Case Western
Reserve University, Duke University, Florida
Atlantic University, Hunter College (CUNY),

New York University, Oakland University,
Pennsylvania State University, Radford
University, Seattle Pacific University, St. Louis
University, University of California-Los
Angeles, University of Iowa, University of
Massachusetts at Worcester, University of
Minnesota, University of Oklahoma, University
of Pennsylvania, University of Rhode Island,
University of Texas Health Science Center at
San Antonio, and Yale University. 

AACN’s Geriatric Nursing Education Project is
committed to sharing best practices and devel-
oping Web-based resources to enhance geriatric
nursing education. Each month, new pages are
added to the Showcasing Curriculum Grant
Innovations resource on the Web to spotlight
the groundbreaking work of award recipients.
Almost two dozen awardees are spotlighted
and include information on curriculum devel-
opment, sample syllabi, student feedback and
lessons learned. See www.aacn.nche.edu/
Education/Hartford.

G E R I A T R I C  N U R S I N G

Geriatric Nursing

continues



In October 2004, AACN and the Hartford
Foundation Institute for Geriatric Nursing
announced the winners of the 2004 Awards 
for Baccalaureate Education in Geriatric
Nursing. This national awards program recog-
nizes model baccalaureate programs in nursing
with a strong focus on gerontological nursing.
Awards were presented to programs that
exhibit exceptional, substantive, and innova-
tive baccalaureate curricula. Beyond
innovation, programs must demonstrate 

relevance in the clinical environment and have
the ability to be replicated at schools of nurs-
ing across the country. Awards were given this
year to Duke University (NC), Saint Cloud
State University (MN), University of North
Carolina at Greensboro, University of Rhode
Island, and Valparaiso University (IN). ❖

For more details on AACN’s Geriatric Nursing
Education Project, see www.aacn.nche.edu/
Education/Hartford/index.htm.

2 0 0 5

“Resolving the nursing shortage is a national
priority that requires a collective response

from those preparing and employing nurses, as
well as those who will someday require nurs-
ing services. Together we must ensure that the
nursing workforce is adequate in number and
educated to provide the best care possible.
The health and future welfare of our nation

depends on its nurses.”
~ Jean E. Bartels, AACN President,

Atlanta Journal-Constitution, 
October 7, 2004
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Administered jointly by AACN and The

City of Hope National Medical Center,

the End-of-Life Nursing Education

Consortium (ELNEC) project is a

national education initiative to improve

end-of-life care in the United States.

The ELNEC project’s train-the-trainer program
has educated over 2,400 nurse educators in the
past five years, including a wide array of staff
nurses, nursing administrators, continuing edu-
cation providers, clinical nurse specialists, nurse
practitioners, and undergraduate and graduate
nursing faculty. These nurses, who represent all
50 states, are employed in hospitals, clinics,
research centers, hospices and universities.

The project, which began in February 2000
with funding provided by the Robert Wood
Johnson Foundation, has expanded its scope
significantly over the years. In addition to
ELNEC-Core and ELNEC-Graduate training
opportunities, the project now offers specialty
programs including ELNEC-Oncology and
ELNEC-Pediatric. The ELNEC project has suc-
ceeded in securing additional funding to
continue the trainings through the National
Cancer Institute, the Aetna Foundation, and
the Archstone Foundation.

In the January 2005 issue of the Journal of
Palliative Medicine, new data from ELNEC
shows the widespread impact
the project is having on dis-
seminating best practices
related to end-of-life nursing
care. Over a 12-month peri-
od, 502 faculty members
representing 460 different
nursing programs from all 50
states received ELNEC train-
ing and shared this new
knowledge with more than

19,000 students and colleagues in a variety of
educational settings. These data were collected
from five training courses developed to enhance
expertise in nursing faculty teaching in under-
graduate and continuing education programs.
The data showed that the work of ELNEC
trainers to integrate more end-of-life content
into their curriculum resulted in a significantly
higher effectiveness rating among new nursing
graduates in providing end-of-life care. 

The ELNEC Project is currently developing
two new ELNEC courses, including ELNEC-

Critcal Care and ELNEC-
Geriatric Nursing. The training
session for ELNEC-Critical
Care is scheduled for November
13-15, 2006, in Pasadena, CA.

End-of-Life Care 

A N N U A L  S T A T E  O F  T H E  S C H O O L S

UPCOMING 
ELNEC TRAININGS

ELNEC-Graduate
June 21-23, 2006

Pasadena, CA

ELNEC-Pediatric 
Palliative Care

August 2-4, 2006
Anaheim, CA

ELNEC-Oncology
September 13-15, 2006

Pasadena, CA

For more information on the ELNEC project
including details on training sessions, see
www.aacn.nche.edu/ELNEC.
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Twelve conferences were offered July 2004-
June 2005 including the Summer Seminar, Fall
and Spring Executive Development Series, Fall
Semiannual Meeting, Baccalaureate Education
Conference, Master’s Education Conference,
Doctoral Conference, Nursing Advancement
Professional Conference, Spring Annual
Meeting, Business Officers Meeting, Graduate
Nursing Admissions Professionals Meeting,
and Hot Issues Conference. See page 19 for a
listing of upcoming conferences. 

AACN also joined with J. W. Thompson
Communications this year to cosponsor an
invitational conference designed to encourage
education-practice partnerships to expand
capacity in baccalaureate nursing programs. In
October 2005, the E-3: Enroll, Educate, and
Empower conference was held in Louisville,
KY, and featured presentations on the state of
nursing education today, productive partner-
ships, simulation technology and what nursing
schools need to grow their programs. 

AACN is committed to being the national
voice for baccalaureate and higher degree 
programs in nursing. The organization 
strives to bring the association’s mission and

message before the larger nursing community, 
through a variety of publications including:

❖ The Journal of Professional Nursing, the
association’s bimonthly publication that
features scholarly articles examining nurs-
ing education, practice, cultural diversity,
research, and public policy. 

❖ AACN’s Essentials series, three landmark
publications that detail the essential ele-
ments of baccalaureate nursing programs,
master’s nursing programs, and clinical
agency support. 

❖ SYLLABUS, a bimonthly, electronic
newsletter designed to keep members and
nonmembers updated on key legislation
and regulatory programs, and provide
news on funding opportunities. 

❖ AACN News Watch, a monthly email advi-
sory highlighting new initiatives, political
advocacy, publications, conferences, collab-
orations, and other activities aimed at
meeting the needs of member institutions.

Education &
 C

om
m
unication

AACN strives to meet the education and professional development needs of nursing

school deans and faculty. AACN conferences and seminars give nurse educators 

personal contact with key decision makers in health care, higher education, and govern-

ment.Association meetings offer a stimulating source of continuing education and

professional development that builds leadership and allows for valuable networking.
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For more information on AACN publications,
see www.aacn.nche.edu/Publications.



New and updated publications in
2005 include:
❖ Peterson’s Guide to Nursing Programs,

10th edition, provides the general public
with a comprehensive, concise directory of
four-year and graduate programs in nurs-
ing in the United States and Canada. 

❖ A new fact sheet on Articulation
Agreements Among Nursing Education
Programs which documents the wide-
spread use of these agreements to facilitate
educational mobility.

❖ Updated issue bulletin on Accelerated
Programs: The Fast Track to Careers in
Nursing which includes the latest data and
list of programs offered nationwide.

UPCOMING CONFERENCES

Faculty Practice Conference
February 16-18, 2006
San Antonio Marriott Rivercenter

Master’s Education Conference
February 16-18, 2006
San Antonio Marriott Rivercenter

Executive Development Series
March 10-11, 2006
Fairmont Hotel, Washington, DC

Nursing Advancement 
Professionals Meeting 
March 10-11, 2006
Fairmont Hotel, Washington, DC

Spring Annual Meeting 
March 11-14, 2006
Fairmont Hotel, Washington, DC

Graduate Nursing Advancement 
Professionals Meeting
April 4-5, 2006
Wyndham Hotel, Baltimore, MD

Business Officers of Nursing 
Schools Annual Meeting
April 19-21, 2006
Westin Horton Plaza, San Diego, CA

Summer Seminar 
July 23-26, 2006
Snow King Resort, Jackson Hole, WY 

Fall Semiannual Meeting 
October 28-31, 2006
Fairmont Hotel, Washington, DC

Baccalaureate Conference
November 2006

Doctoral Conference 
January 2007

For more information on AACN Conferences,
see www.aacn.nche.edu/Conferences.
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Accreditation

An autonomous arm of AACN, the Commission on Collegiate Nursing Education

(CCNE) ensures the quality and integrity of baccalaureate and graduate education 

programs that prepare nurses. Completing its seventh year of accreditation review activ-

ities, CCNE had accredited 677 baccalaureate and master’s degree nursing programs at

418 colleges and universities nationwide. An additional 72 programs at 47 institutions

held new applicant status.

2 0 0 5

A C C R E D I T A T I O N20

Accreditation

In September 2004, CCNE successfully com-
pleted its 2004 elections process. CCNE
distributed ballots to 417 institutions — all
with baccalaureate and/or master’s degree pro-
grams holding accreditation or preliminary
approval by CCNE — to be cast in the elec-
tions for the CCNE Board of Commissioners.
Valid ballots were returned from 256 institu-
tions, resulting in a 61 percent response rate.
Elected to the CCNE Board were Harriet
Feldman from the Lienhard School of Nursing
at Pace University (NY) as the representative
for Deans, and William Michael Scott from
NurseFirst Family Health Center (SC) as the
representative for Practicing Nurses.

In November 2004, CCNE signed a mutual
recognition agreement with the Canadian
Association of Schools of Nursing (CASN).
CCNE and CASN agreed to recognize each
other’s commitment to excellence and,
although the forms of accreditation are not
interchangeable, each party recognizes the
credibility of the other. Both organizations will
work closely together to share information
related to substantial changes in accreditation
standards and policies to address issues of
mutual concern as they arise.

On January 1, 2005, the amended CCNE
accreditation standards went into effect for
schools seeking accreditation of their baccalau-
reate and/or master’s level nursing programs.
Earlier, the CCNE Board of Commissioners
acted to amend the standards used to ensure
quality in baccalaureate and graduate level
nursing programs. The CCNE Board agreed to
revise the Standards for Accreditation of
Baccalaureate and Graduate Nursing Programs
that were proposed by the CCNE Standards
Committee following a comprehensive 18-
month review process and consideration of
constituents’ comments. The most significant
change relates to the use of professional nurs-
ing standards and guidelines. Specifically, the
revised standards require the use of the follow-
ing professional nursing guidelines as the
foundation for curricula:

❖ The Essentials of Baccalaureate 
Education for Professional Nursing
Practice (AACN, 1998)

❖ The Essentials of Master’s Education for
Advanced Practice Nursing (AACN, 1996)

❖ Criteria for Evaluation of Nurse
Practitioner Programs (National Task
Force on Quality Nurse Practitioner
Education, 2002)

For more information on CCNE and nursing program accreditation, see
www.aacn.nche.edu/Accreditation.
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To the Board of Directors
American Association of Colleges of Nursing
Washington, DC

We have audited the accompanying statement of financial position of the

American Association of Colleges of Nursing (AACN) as of June 30, 2005, and the

related statements of activities, functional expenses and cash flows for the year

then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of AACN’s manage-

ment. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements

based on our audit. The prior year summarized comparative information has been

derived from AACN’s 2004 financial statements and, in our report dated August 10,

2004, we expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted

in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and per-

form the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial

statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a

test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial state-

ments. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 

significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall

financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable

basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above, present fairly, in all

material respects, the financial position of American Association of Colleges of

Nursing as of June 30, 2005, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows

for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accept-

ed in the United States of America.

Washington, DC 

August 18, 2005

Independent 
Auditors Report
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Statement of Financial Position June 30, 2005 
(With Summarized Financial Information for June 30, 2004) 

2005 2004
ASSETS AACN CCNE Total Total
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $190,423 $237,678 $428,101 $781,707
Contributions and grants receivable 1,782,931 1,782,931 2,007,571 
Accounts receivable 38,688 5,275 43,963 36,202 
Accrued interest receivable 2,629 1,106 3,735 4,868
Due to/from CCNE 65,434 (65,434) -0- -0-
Prepaid expenses 73,166 30,559 103,725 90,956 

Total Current Assets 2,153,271 209,184 2,362,455 2,921,304

Fixed Assets

Furniture and equipment 321,207 120,065 441,272 427,573 
Leasehold improvements 198,460 74,429 272,889 261,635 

519,667 194,494 714,161 689,208 
Less accumulated 

depreciation and amortization (363,006) (140,260) (503,266) (460,107) 

Net Fixed Assets 156,661 54,234 210,895 229,101 
Investments 4,299,027 1,258,851 5,557,878 4,776,117 
Contributions and Grants Receivable, 

less current portion 3,120,612 3,120,612 1,612,223 

Total Assets $9,729,571 $1,522,269 $ 11,251,840 $9,538,745

LIABILITIES 2005 2004
AND NET ASSETS AACN CCNE Total Total
Current Liabilities

Bank overdraft $107,982 
Accounts payable $53,100 $10,413 $63,513 297,848 
Accrued vacation 88,514 13,504 102,018 97,275 
Deferred revenue: 

Dues 662,991 662,991 693,993 
Meetings 76,116 76,116 43,755 
Accreditation 309,300 309,300 293,000 

Total Current Liabilities 880,721 333,217 1,213,938 1,533,853

Net Assets

Unrestricted 3,877,222 1,189,052 5,066,274 4,451,881 
Temporarily restricted 4,883,425 4,883,425 3,464,808 
Permanently restricted 88,203 88,203 88,203 

Total Net Assets 8,848,850 1,189,052 10,037,902 8,004,892 

Total Liabilities and Net Assets $9,729,571 $1,522,269 $11,251,840 $9,538,745

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



Exhibit B

E X H I B I T S

A N N U A L  S T A T E  O F  T H E  S C H O O L S

23

Statement of Activities for the Year Ended June 30, 2005
(With Summarized Financial Information for the Year Ended June 30, 2004)

Unrestricted Temporarily Permanently
CHANGES IN Restricted Restricted 2005 2004
NET ASSETS AACN CCNE Total AACN AACN Total Total

Revenues

Contributions and grants $2,636,524 $2,636,524 $2,309,374
Membership dues $1,719,360 $1,719,360 1,719,360 1,625,925
Registration fees 960,483 $8,100 968,583 968,583 763,716
Publication sales 312,804 312,804 312,804 193,573
Investment income 345,562 74,886 420,448 420,448 520,650
Annual fees 808,625 808,625 808,625 763,250
Application fees 102,500 102,500 102,500 117,500
Site evaluation fees 333,200 333,200 333,200 365,400
Miscellaneous income 14,152 4,180 18,332 18,332 29,134
Net assets released 

from restrictions 1,217,907 1,217,907 (1,217,907) -0- -0-

Total Revenues 4,570,268 1,331,491 5,901,759 1,418,617 $-0- 7,320,376 6,688,522

Expenses

Program services: 
End of Life Projects 119,041 119,041 119,041 476,257
Gerontology/

Geriatric Projects 838,880 838,880 838,880 1,639,489
Regional Collaborative (CIC) 9,488
Other Grants & Contracts 257,195 257,195 257,195 286,278
Research 286,505 286,505 286,505 270,737
Education Policy 216,200 216,200 216,200 194,528 
Governmental Affairs/

Lobbying 371,952 371,952 371,952 373,577
Public Affairs 225,424 225,424 225,424 230,665
Publications 185,094 185,094 185,094 175,999
Meetings 775,248 775,248 775,248 600,830
Networks 2,587 2,587 2,587 
Taskforces 105,366 105,366 105,366
Accreditation 994,243 994,243 994,243 1,063,275

Total program services 3,383,492 994,243 4,377,735 -0- -0- 4,377,735 5,321,123

Supporting services: 
General and administrative 797,382 112,249 909,631 909,631 693,364

Total Expenses 4,180,874 1,106,492 5,287,366 -0- -0- 5,287,366 6,014,487

Change In Net Assets 389,394 224,999 614,393 1,418,617 -0- 2,033,010 674,035

Net Assets, Beg. Of Year 3,487,828 964,053 4,451,881 3,464,808 88,203 8,004,892 7,330,857

Net Assets, End Of Year $3,877,222 $1,189,052 $5,066,274 $4,883,425 $88,203 $10,037,902 $8,004,892

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Gerontology/ Other Governmental 
End of Life Geriatric Grants & Education Affairs/ Public 
Projects Projects Contracts Research Policy Lobbying Affairs

Salaries $70,653 $214,397 $54,442 $181,566 $161,730 $201,815 $120,439 
Fringe benefits 17,638 52,091 13,015 42,253 34,533 48,369 32,177
Telephone 976 2,824 3,156 1,577 141 1,177 241 
Printing & design 4,895 5,381 16,280 26,097
Postage & duplication 1,122 9,267 7,016 6,342 384 1,841 8,698
Office supplies 714 3,911 1,753 1,640 188 828 915
Staff/officer travel 8,007 5,432 16,487 656 2,486 11,527 698 
Board & committee 25,234 1,249 1,917 
Consulting services 8,000 16,200 57,880 16,533 12,822
Professional fees 
Rent 13,740 13,740 13,740 9,516 
Office insurance
Depreciation/amortization 
Equip. repairs & maintenance 103 
JPN subs. cost to members 
Dues & subscriptions 60 111 1,643 10,788 1,873 
Public relations 349
Legislative affairs 77,053 
Staff continuing education 722 199 
Catering & audio visual 2,049 25,856 637 462 1,408
Special activities 1,951 31,154 8,680 
Project awards & scholarships 436,260 22,000 
Honoraria 
Miscellaneous 653 6,569 6,471 5,170 1,355 1,887 1,860
Overhead allocation 6,878 33,588 11,335 
Subcontract expenses 4,400 23,327 
Evaluator training 
Evaluator travel 
Realized loss on disposal 

Total Expenses $119,041 $838,880 $257,195 $286,505 $216,200 $371,952 $225,424
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Exhibit C
Statement of Functional Expenses For the Year Ended June 30, 2005

(With Summarized Financial Information for the Year Ended June 30, 2004)

2005 2004 
Total Total

Publications Meetings Networks Taskforces Accreditation G & A Expenses Expenses

$101,278 $201,683 $17,311 $317,340 $439,299 $2,081,953 $1,907,120
22,589 48,431 4,232 81,939 89,946 487,213 460,209 

306 4,517 $50 3,146 233 8,310 26,654 30,014
17,720 29,819 634 1,200 5,218 5,239 112,483 118,695 
3,083 39,677 402 19,030 12,876 109,738 104,237 

222 9,183 23 4,505 26,030 49,912 57,396 
5,067 100,303 26,121 19,571 48,700 245,055 236,686 

2,198 19,831 130,651 102,288 283,368 273,647 
5,580 12,000 28,291 2,805 160,111 110,071 

3,965 22,821 26,786 25,333 
7,404 15,864 30,196 30,460 134,660 136,208 

12,732 13,177 25,909 25,781
12,116 54,031 66,147 69,487
1,807 10,642 12,552 9,791

22,425 22,425 24,787
192 10,306 35,154 60,127 38,486

7,950 8,299 14,500
77,053 74,870

4,242 6,683 11,846 8,612
299,761 17,998 1,358 349,529 337,400

1,692 23,505 66,982 22,973
458,260 1,296,572 

5,000 5,000 5,000
16,540 1,903 2,910 17,351 43,299 105,968 90,287

(51,801)
27,727 177,879

38,937 38,937 81,080
232,308 232,308 276,583

364 364 783

$185,094 $775,248 $2,587 $105,366 $994,243 $909,631 $5,287,366 $6,014,487

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Exhibit D

E X H I B I T S

Statement of Cash Flows For the Year Ended June 30, 2005
(With Summarized Financial Information for the Year Ended June 30, 2004)

2005 2004

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Change in Net Assets $2,033,010 $674,035
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to 

net cash provided by operating activities:
Gain on investments (241,947) (410,262)
Depreciation and amortization 66,147 69,487 
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 364 783 
Increase in grants receivable (1,283,749) (9,203) 
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (7,761) 7,176 
Decrease in accrued interest receivable 1,133 472 
Increase in prepaid expenses (12,769) (3,387) 
(Decrease) increase in bank overdraft (107,982) 107,982 
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable (234,335) 44,207 
Increase in accrued vacation 4,743 6,262 
Decrease in deferred revenue - dues (31,002) (39,507) 
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue - meetings 32,361 (12,447) 
Increase in deferred revenue - accreditation 16,300 30,800 

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 234,513 466,398
Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Purchases of furniture and equipment (37,051) (15,685) 
Purchases of leasehold improvements (11,255) 
Purchases of investments (1,594,929) (580,461) 
Proceeds from sales of investments 1,055,116 442,561 

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (588,119) (153,585) 
Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (353,606) 312,813 
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 781,707 468,894 
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year $428,101 $781,707

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Notes to Financial Statements June 30, 2005
NOTE A. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization
The American Association of Colleges of Nursing (AACN) was formed in 1969 as a nonprofit organization to
establish quality standards for bachelor’s and graduate degree nursing education, assist deans and directors
to implement those standards, influence the nursing profession to improve health care, and promote public
support of baccalaureate and graduate education, research, and practice in nursing. 

Basis of Presentation
The accompanying financial statements are presented on the accrual basis of accounting. Consequently, rev-
enue is recognized when earned and expenses when incurred. 

Financial Statement Presentation
AACN classifies information regarding its financial position and activities according to three classes of net
assets: unrestricted net assets, temporarily restricted net assets, and permanently restricted net assets.

Income Taxes
AACN is exempt from U.S. Federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (the
Code) and has been determined by the Internal Revenue Service not to be a private foundation within the
meaning of section 509(a) of the Code. 
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Notes to Financial Statements June 30, 2005 (continued)
NOTE A. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents
AACN considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less, when purchased, to be
cash equivalents. 

Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are considered to be fully collectible by management and accordingly no allowance for
doubtful accounts is considered necessary. 

Fixed Assets
Fixed assets are stated at cost, if purchased, or fair market value at date of donation, if contributed.
Depreciation of furniture and equipment is computed using the straightline method over the estimated useful
lives of the assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the
asset or the remaining lease term. All acquisitions of property and equipment in excess of $750 are capitalized. 

Investments
Investments are stated at fair value. The valuation of investments is based upon quotations obtained from
national securities exchanges; where securities are not listed on an exchange, quotations are obtained from
other published sources. Investments in limited partnerships are reported at fair value based on information
provided by the manager of the partnership. The manager determines the fair value based on quoted market
prices, if available, or using other valuation methods, including independent appraisals.

Contributions and Grants
Contributions and grants are recorded as unrestricted, temporarily restricted or permanently restricted net
assets, depending on the existence and/or nature of any donor restrictions. When a donor restriction
expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, temporarily
restricted net assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets and reported in the Statement of Activities
as net assets released from restrictions. 

Revenue 
Membership dues are recognized as revenue on a pro rata basis over the term of the membership period.
Application fees for accreditation are recognized as revenue in the year the accreditation process starts.
Application and annual fees from the accreditation program and membership dues received in advance are
included in deferred revenue. 

Functional Allocation of Expenses
The costs of providing the various programs and supporting services have been summarized on a functional
basis in the Statement of Functional Expenses. Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among the pro-
grams and supporting services benefited. 

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the finan-
cial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates. 

Prior Year Information
The accompanying financial statements include certain prior year summarized comparative information in
total but not by net asset class. Such information does not include sufficient detail to constitute a presenta-
tion in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Accordingly, such information should be read in conjunction with AACN’s financial statements for the year
ended June 30, 2004. 

Reclassifications
Certain 2004 amounts have been reclassified for comparative purposes.

NOTE B. Commission on Collegiate Nursing Education
The Commission on Collegiate Nursing Education (CCNE) was established in 1996 as an autonomous arm of
AACN to have the sole purpose of accrediting baccalaureate and graduate nursing education programs. AACN
shares its premises and administrative personnel with CCNE. Costs are allocated between the two organiza-
tions and are based on actual expenditures or a percentage of salaries. At June 30, 2005, CCNE owed AACN
approximately $65,000.
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Notes to Financial Statements June 30, 2005 (continued)
NOTE C. Investments

The quoted market and published unit values of investments as of June 30, 2005 are as follows:

AACN
Description Amount 
Mutual funds $3,836,045 
Limited partnership interests 338,173 
Certificates of deposit 124,809 

4,299,027 

CCNE 
Description Amount 
Mutual funds 986,501 
Limited partnership interests 73,080 
Certificates of deposit 199,270 

1,258,851 
Total $5,557,878

The limited partnerships engage in the speculative trading of future contracts, forward contracts, and swap-
contracts (collectively derivatives). The limited partnerships are exposed to both market risk, the risk arising
from changes in the market value of the contracts, and credit risk, the risk of failure by another party to per-
form according to the terms of the contract.

Investment income is summarized as follows:

Description Amount
Interest and dividend income $178,500 
Net realized and unrealized gain 241,948 
Total $420,448

Note D. Concentrations
AACN maintains cash balances at various financial institutions. The accounts at these institutions are insured
by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up to $100,000. At times during the year, AACN’s cash bal-
ances exceeded the FDIC limits. Management believes the risk in these situations to be minimal.

As of June 30, 2005, one contributor comprised 95% of contributions and grants receivable for AACN. One con-
tributor comprised 89% of contributions and grants revenue for the year ended June 30, 2005.

Note E. Contributions And Grants Receivable
All contributions and grants receivable are considered to be collectible within one year unless otherwise
stated by the donor. Contributions and grants receivable which will not be collected within one year have
been discounted at 4.0% at June 30, 2005. Uncollectible contributions and grants receivable are expected 
to be insignificant.

June 30, Amount 
2006 $1,782,931 
2007 1,195,032 
2008 1,298,717 
2009 1,007,400
Total contributions and grants receivable 5,284,080 
Less discount to present value (380,537) 
Net Contributions And Grants Receivable $4,903,543
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Notes to Financial Statements June 30, 2005 (continued)
Note F. Retirement Plan

AACN maintains a defined contribution retirement plan covering all employees who have completed one year
of service and have reached the age of 21. Contributions to the plan are applied to individual annuities issued
to each participant by the Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association (TIAA) and/or the College Retirement
Equities Fund (CREF). Participants are required to contribute five percent of covered compensation in order for
AACN to contribute ten percent of covered compensation. Retirement plan expense for the year ended June
30, 2005 was approximately $160,000.

Note G. Temporarily Restricted Net Assets
Temporarily restricted net assets are available for the following purposes as of June 30, 2005:

Description Amount 
Web-based Essentials Project $63,740 
End of Life Projects 160,986 
Gerontology/Geriatric Projects 181,861 
Hartford Scholarship Projects 2,083,192 
Curriculum/Awards Projects 31,444 
Hartford Faculty Development 2,351,334 
BONUS Administrative Fund 10,868 
Total $4,883,425

Net assets were released from donor restrictions by incurring expenses satisfying the purpose restrictions
specified by donors for the year ended June 30, 2005 as follows:

Description Amount 
Web-based Essentials Project $36,260 
End of Life Projects 119,041 
Gerontology/Geriatric Projects 88,214 
Hartford Scholarship Projects 542,643 
Curriculum/Awards Projects 286,377 
HRSA - Secretary’s Award 80,043 
RWJ - Post BSN Residency 35,380 
AHRQ - CNL Conference 17,879 
Hartford Inst Award 9,860 
BONUS Administrative Fund 2,210 
Total $1,217,907

Note H. Permanently Restricted Net Assets
Permanently restricted net assets represent funds that are to be invested in perpetuity with the investment
income used for general support of AACN. Permanently restricted net assets as of June 30, 2005 were approx-
imately $88,000.

Note I. Operating Leases
AACN leases office space under a noncancelable operating lease which commenced July 1, 1997. The lease
provides for base rent with annual adjustments for increases in operating expenses. Minimum lease payments
are as follows:

For the Year Ended June 30, Amount 
2006 $128,090 
2007 128,090
Total $256,180
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CLINICAL NURSE LEADER 
PROJECT EVALUATION COMMITTEE
Charlene Quinn (Chair), University of Maryland;
Sean Clarke, University of Pennsylvania; Sue
Haddock, WJB Dorn VA Hospital; Kathy Player,
American Nurses Association; Kathleen Sanford,
American Organization of Nurse Executives; Jolene
Tornabeni, CNL Implementation Task Force Chair;
Gail Wolfe, American Organization of Nurse
Executives

EDUCATIONAL BENCHMARKING (EBI) 
SURVEY ADVISORY GROUP
Sandra Ferketich (Chair), University of New
Mexico; Candace Berardinelli, Regis University;
Linda Caldwell, Curry College; Johanne Quinn,
King College; Silvana Richardson, Viterbo
University

FINANCE COMMITTEE
Eileen Breslin (Chair), University of Massachusetts-
Amherst; Robert Anders, University of Texas-El
Paso; Terese Burch, Saint Anthony College of
Nursing; Marilyn Rothert, Michigan State
University; Linda Samson, Governors State
University

GOVERNMENT AFFAIRS COMMITTEE
Jane Kirschling (Chair), University of Southern
Maine; Christine Alichnie, Bloomsburg University;
Dorothy Detlor, Washington State University; Alexia
Green, Texas Tech University Health Science Center;
Mary Hoke, New Mexico State University; Jeri
Milstead, Medical College of Ohio; Nancy
Ridenour, Illinois State University

MEMBERSHIP COMMITTEE
Terry Misener (Chair), University of Portland; Joyce
Young Johnson, Albany State University; Linda
Niedringhaus, Elmhurst College; Lynne Pearcey,
University of North Carolina at Greensboro; Nilda
Peragallo, University of Miami; Rosemary Porter,
University of Missouri–Columbia 

Dean Mentoring Subcommittee
Rosemary Porter (Chair), University of
Missouri-Columbia; Pam Clarke, University of
Wyoming; Robyn Nelson, Touro University;
Sara Torres, University of Medicine &
Dentistry of New Jersey

NOMINATING COMMITTEE
Timothy Gaspar, Winona State University
(Convener); Julie Johnson, Kent State University;
Kathleen Ann Long, University of Florida; Dorothy
Powell, Howard University; Pamela Watson,
University of Texas Medical Branch

AACN is governed by an 11-member Board of Directors,

each of whom represents a member institution. The 

Board consists of four officers and seven members-at-large

who are elected by the AACN membership.

Some members-at-large are designated by the president to serve two-year terms 

as chairs of standing committees, which include Finance, Government Affairs,

Membership, and Program.The elected treasurer chairs the Finance Committee.

The Nominating Committee is elected for a one-year term.The Board appoints task

forces as issues arise that require study and action.

COMMITTEES

&Governance
Organization
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JOURNAL OF 
PROFESSIONAL NURSING

Editor
Ellen Olshansky, University of Pittsburgh

Editorial Board
Jean E. Bartels, Georgia Southern University; 
Eileen Breslin, University of Massachusetts-
Amherst; Jeannette Lancaster, University of
Virginia; Kathleen Potempa, Oregon Health 
and Science University

Assistant Editors
Helen Burns, University of Pittsburgh; 
Karen J. Aroian, Wayne State University; 
Susan Gennaro, University of Pennsylvania;
Pamela Mitchell, University of Washington 

PROGRAM COMMITTEE
Joan Creasia (Chair), University of Tennessee-
Knoxville; Linda Cronenwett, The University 
of North Carolina-Chapel Hill; Kathy Dracup,
University of California-San Francisco; Susan
Fetsch, Avila University; Doreen Harper, 
University of Alabama at Birmingham; 
Elaine Marshall, Brigham Young University; 
Mary Beth Mathews, University of Hartford;
Judeen Schulte, Alverno College

Baccalaureate Education 
Conference Subcommittee
Judeen Schulte (Chair), Alverno College; Judy
Beal, Simmons College; David Bennett,
Kennesaw State University; Daisy Cruz-
Richman, SUNY Downstate Medical Center;
Sarah Farrell, University of Virginia; Patricia
Martin, Wright State University; Mary Ann
Merrigan, Wilkes University

Doctoral Conference Subcommittee
Kathy Dracup (Chair), University of California-
San Francisco; Patricia Chiverton, University of
Rochester; Audrey Gift, Michigan State
University; Karen Miller, University of Kansas;
Julie Novak, Purdue University; Virginia
Tilden, University of Nebraska Medical Center 

Executive Development Series Subcommittee
Mary Beth Mathews (Chair), University of
Hartford; Michael Bleich, University of Kansas;
Susan Gunby, Mercer University; Eleanor
Howell, Creighton University; Dayle Joseph,
University of Rhode Island; John Lantz,
University of San Francisco 

PROGRAM COMMITTEE (continued)

Hot Issues Subcommittee
Susan Fetsch (Chair), Avila University; Betty
Adams, Prairie View A & M University; 
Donna Hathaway, University of Tennessee
Health Science Center; Terry Miller, Pacific
Lutheran University

Master’s Conference Subcommittee
Elaine Marshall (Chair), Brigham Young
University; Susan Bakewell-Sachs, The College
of New Jersey; Marcella Griggs, Radford
University; Jan Noles, Patty Hanks Shelton
School of Nursing; Kathleen Thies, University
of Massachusetts-Worcester; Susan Poslusny,
DePaul University

Summer Seminar Subcommittee
Linda Cronenwett (Chair), The University of
North Carolina-Chapel Hill; Elvira Szigeti,
SUNY Upstate Medical University; Linda Klotz,
University of Texas-Tyler; Rosemary Rhodes,
University of South Alabama; Mecca Cranley,
University at Buffalo

Hot Issues Conference Subcommittee
Susan Fetsch (Chair), Avila University; 
Betty Adams, Prairie View A&M University;
Terry Miller, Pacific Lutheran University
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TASK FORCES

CLINICAL NURSE LEADER 
IMPLEMENTATION TASK FORCE
Jolene Tornabeni (Chair), Inova Health System
(retired); Cynthia Flynn Capers, University of
Akron; Melanie Dreher, University of Iowa; Karen
Haase-Herrick, American Organization of Nurse
Executives; James Harris, VA Tennessee Valley
Healthcare System; Traci Hoiting, Providence St.
Vincent Medical Center; Rose Marie Martin,
American Nurses Association; Judith Miller,
Marquette University; Charlene Quinn, University of
Maryland (Chair, CNL Evaluation Committee);
Raelene Shippee-Rice, University of New
Hampshire; Marcia K. Stanhope, University of
Kentucky; Marge Wiggins, Maine Medical Center

TASK FORCE ON THE DOCTOR OF 
NURSING PRACTICE (Completed its work October 2004)

Elizabeth Lenz (Chair), The Ohio State University;
Kathleen Andreoli, Rush University; Jean E. Bartels,
Georgia Southern University; Sandra Edwardson,
University of Minnesota; Catherine Gilliss, Duke
University; Judy Honig, Columbia University; Lucy
N. Marion, Medical College of Georgia; Lynne
Pearcey, University of North Carolina–Greensboro;
Julie Sebastian, University of Kentucky; Marita
Titler, University of Iowa 

TASK FORCE ON THE ESSENTIALS 
OF NURSING EDUCATION FOR 
THE DOCTOR OF NURSING PRACTICE
Donna Hathaway (Chair), University of Tennessee
Health Science Center; Janet Allan, University of
Maryland; Ann Hamric, University of Virginia; 
Judy Honig, Columbia University; Carol Howe,
Oregon Health and Science University; Maureen
Keefe, University of Utah; Betty Lenz, The Ohio
State University; Sr. Mary Margaret Mooney,
Commission on Collegiate Nursing Education; Julie
Sebastian, University of Kentucky; Heidi Taylor,
West Texas A&M University; Edward S. Thompson,
University of Iowa

TASK FORCE ON THE ROADMAP TO
THE DOCTOR OF NURSING PRACTICE
Carolyn Williams (Chair), University of Kentucky;
Anna Alt-White, Department of Veterans Affairs;
Kathleen Andreoli, Rush University Medical Center;
Debra Davis, University of South Alabama; Carolina
Huerta, University of Texas-Pan American; Martha
Hill, Johns Hopkins University; Nancy Mosser,
Waynesboro College; Robyn Nelson, Touro
University, Marjorie Thomas Lawson, University 
of Southern Maine 

TASK FORCE ON ACADEMIC LEADERSHIP
Marilyn Rothert (Chair), Michigan State University;
Mecca Cranley, SUNY Buffalo; Maureen Keefe,
University of Utah; E. Jane Martin, West Virginia
University

TASK FORCE ON THE REVISION 
OF THE POSITION STATEMENT 
ON NURSING RESEARCH
Ada Sue Hinshaw (Chair), University of Michigan;
Katharyn A. May, University of Wisconsin-Madison;
Pamela H. Mitchell, University of Washington; Mary
Ellen Wewers, The Ohio State University; Carolyn
Yucha, University of Nevada-Las Vegas

TASK FORCE TO DEVELOP 
OPERATING POLICIES AND 
PROCEDURES FOR AACN NETWORKS
Lea Acord (Chair), Marquette University; Robyn
Nelson, Touro University; Cesarina Thompson,
Southern Connecticut State University; Carolyn
Williams, University of Kentucky
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Ad Hoc Group for Medical Research Funding
Over 300 research, biomedical, patient advocacy,
and health care provider groups meet monthly and
engage in activities including sending letters to the
Hill, hosting briefings for congressional staff, and
meeting with key NIH directors. AACN is a mem-
ber of the Ad Hoc Group’s Executive Committee. 

Alliance for Nursing Accreditation
Created by AACN in 1997 in conjunction 
with CCNE, this group of specialty nursing pro-
gram accreditors meets twice each year to discuss
issues related to nursing education, practice and
credentialing.

American Health Care Association
AACN’s Executive Director participates on the
Nursing Advisory Commission that examines nursing
staffing concerns within the long-term care industry.

APN Consensus Work Group
Convened by AACN, this group of APN stakehold-
ers is engaged in the development of a consensus
statement regarding APN education, regulation, spe-
cialization and sub-specialization, and certification.
Participants include AANA, AANP, ANCC, AONE,
NACNS, NCSBN, NLN, NONPF, and ONS among
other groups. 

Association of Academic Health Centers 
AACN serves on the AHC’s Health Professions
Education Council and participated in the group’s
recent strategic planning initiative. 

Association of American Colleges & Universities (AAC&U)
Staff work with AAC&U on the Professional
Accreditation and Assessment (PAA) project to
develop areas of study and competencies that should
be included in every baccalaureate major.

Association of General and Liberal Studies (AGLS)
Staff serve on the Executive Committee focused on
promoting quality general education within higher
education. 

CampusRN
In collaboration with AACN, CampusRN funds a
scholarship program and develops free online career
centers for member schools.

Center for Nursing Advocacy Advisory Panel 
Public Affairs staff participate on the national advi-
sory panel for this watchdog group that monitors
the portrayal of nurses in the media.

Clinical Nurse Leader Implementation Task Force
The following organizations are collaborating 
with AACN on the implementation of the CNL:
ANA, AONE, Plexus Institute and VA Department
of Nursing.

Coalition for Health Funding
Government Affairs staff attend monthly meetings
and briefings with key congressional and adminis-
tration officials to ask questions and offer input on
health care issues. This coalition leads Hill meetings
with OMB and appropriations staff. 

Cover the Uninsured Week/ Covering 
Kids & Families Campaign
For the past three years, AACN has joined with
other national organizations to provide promotional
support for these two Robert Wood Johnson
Foundation initiatives.

Education Scholar
AACN is engaged in an ongoing collaboration with
the American Association of Colleges of Pharmacy
and Western University of the Health Sciences to
administer this interprofessional, Web-based faculty
development initiative for health professions educa-
tors. AACN represents nursing and is responsible
for all nurse educator registrations across the U.S.

Educational Benchmarking, Inc.
AACN formed a partnership with EBI in 2000 
to develop student satisfaction surveys to assist 
colleges and universities in assessing their nursing
programs in support of continuous quality improve-
ment objectives. 

Elsevier Science
The publisher of the Journal of Professional Nursing,
Elsevier is one of the leading publishers in the world
with more than 20,000 products and services. 

End-of-Life Nursing Education Consortium
AACN collaborates with the City of Hope National
Medical Center in California to provide a series of
training sessions for nursing faculty in teaching end-
of-life nursing care. Other program and funding

AFFILIATIONS

Deans of member schools, as well as AACN officers and staff, represent the association

on a number of advisory councils, panels, agencies, committees, and other high profile

initiatives within the nursing and higher education communities including:

A F F I L I A T I O N S
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AFFILIATIONS (continued)

collaborators include the Archstone Foundation,
Last Acts, National Cancer Institute, and the
Oncology Nursing Society.

Federation of Association of Schools of the Health Professions
AACN coordinates the Secretary’s Award for
FASHP; participates in the CFO group which meets
monthly on common financial issues; and attends
monthly governmental affairs meetings on joint
advocacy efforts. 

Friends of AHRQ
The coalition sends support letters, coordinates
meetings with key congressional and administration
staff, and hosts briefings to support AHRQ funding. 

Friends of HRSA
The coalition sends support letters, coordinates
meetings with key congressional and administration
staff, and hosts briefings regarding HRSA funding.

Friends of Indian Health 
The coalition sends support letters, coordinates
meetings with key Hill staff, and hosts briefings 
and receptions regarding funding of the Indian
Health Service.

Gerontology Projects
Collaborating organizations on AACN’s geriatric
nursing education initiatives include John A.
Hartford Foundation; John A. Hartford Foundation
Institute for Geriatric Nursing and American
Academy of Nursing (Hartford Geriatric Nursing
Institute); American Geriatrics Society;
Gerontological Society of America; Strategic
Communications and Planning, Inc.; The
Measurement Group; Institute on Aging; and
Alliance for Aging Research.

Government Affairs Collaborating Organizations
Staff work closely with a variety of nursing organi-
zations on common issues related to nursing
research, education and practice legislation and reg-
ulation. Collaborators include American Association
of Nurse Anesthetists, American Nurses Association,
American Organization of Nurse Executives,
NONPF and Oncology Nurses Society.

Health Professions and Nursing Education Coalition
HPNEC holds monthly meetings, sends support let-
ters, hosts an annual Capitol Hill lobbying day,
develops talking points and brochures, holds Hill
briefings, and coordinates meetings with appropria-
tions staff. AACN is one of five members of the
Steering Committee. 

Healthy People Task Force
This interprofessional task force addresses Healthy
People 2010 implementation within health profes-
sions curricula. Participants include the American
Association of Colleges of Osteopathic Medicine,
American Association of Colleges of Pharmacy,
American Dental Education Association, Association
of Academic Health Centers, Association of
American Medical Colleges, Association of
Physician Assistant Programs, Association of
Teachers of Preventive Medicine, and the National
Organization of Nurse Practitioner Faculties.

Higher Education Friday Group
Led by the American Council on Education, this
group meets weekly to discuss Higher Education
Reauthorization and organizational advocacy efforts.

Interagency Collaboration on Nursing Statistics
ICONS promotes the generation and utilization of
data, information, and research to facilitate and
influence decision making about nurses, nursing
education, and nursing workforce. AACN has been
a member since 1984.

International Academy of Nurse Editors
INANE is an informal network of about 200 
editors of nursing publications worldwide that 
meets once a year to exchange information about
editing and publishing strategies for professional
nursing publications.

International Nursing Coalition for Mass Casualty Education
Formed by Vanderbilt University, INCMCE is a
coalition of national nursing, accrediting and health-
care organizations focused on preparing nurses to
respond to mass casualty incidents.

Johnson & Johnson’s Campaign for Nursing’s Future
AACN consults with campaign coordinators on the
national public awareness campaign launched by
J&J to generate interest in nursing careers. 

Joint Commission on Accreditation of
Healthcare Organizations 
AACN participates actively on two JCAHO 
councils, the Nursing Advisory Council and the
Health Professions Council, and on the planning
committee for JCAHO conferences on health pro-
fessions education.

Lydia’s Professional Uniforms, Inc.
Working through Public Affairs, Lydia’s funds a
scholarship program for juniors enrolled in bac-
calaureate nursing programs.
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AFFILIATIONS (continued)

Monster
This leading online recruitment Web site is partner-
ing with AACN to launch a new scholarship
program to address the nurse faculty shortage.

National Association of Advisors for the Health Professions
Staff attend annual meetings and work with the
NAAHP to highlight nursing as a career choice to
college program advisors.

National Association of Clinical Nurse Specialists
Initiated in 2003, the AACN/NACNS Data
Collaboration was established to jointly collect data
on CNS educational programs. 

National Center for Higher Education
Representing associations in the One Dupont Circle
building, AACN participates on several NCHE
working committees, including Technology, Meeting
Planning, Human Resources and Building Services. 

National Environmental Education & Training Foundation
AACN works with NEETF on the development of
competencies for health professionals related to
environmental health and on the Pediatric Asthma
Initiative.

National Nursing Research Roundtable
NNRR is an informal association of nursing organi-
zations with a mission to serve the public’s health
through a strong research-based nursing practice.
AACN has been a member since 1989.

National Organization of Nurse Practitioner Faculties
The AACN/NONPF Data Collaboration and Data
Advisory Committee was initiated in 1997 and has
resulted in the creation of the most complete reposi-
tory of data on NP education in the US and a single
data source to support health workforce planning
and policy analysis.

National Student Nurses Association 
AACN coordinates educational sessions at NSNA’s
annual and mid-year conferences to strengthen ties
between both organizations.

Nurses for a Healthier Tomorrow Coalition 
A member of the Executive Committee, AACN
works with this coalition of 45 nursing groups to
increase interest in nursing faculty careers. 

Nursing Overseas
AACN supports the nursing division of Health
Volunteers Overseas, a private, nonprofit voluntary
organization founded in 1986 and headquartered in
Washington, DC. 

Peterson’s
AACN has collaborated with Peterson’s in publish-
ing the Guide to Nursing Programs since 1994.
Peterson’s is part of the Thomson Corporation. 

Simulis Expert Panel 
AACN convened this panel comprised of five mem-
ber faculty/deans as well as four external
representatives from Simulus, Sigma Theta Tau,
Kaiser Permanente, and Global Nursing Network to
examine the potential of a commercial Web-based
program to evaluate selected competencies of bac-
calaureate nursing students.

Society of National Association Publications
SNAP is a non-profit professional society that serves
association publishers and communications profes-
sionals and provides a forum for idea information
and exchange.

Sullivan Alliance for Diversity in the Health Professions
AACN’s Executive Director represents nursing on
this interprofessional working group focused on
enhancing diversity across the health professions.

Tri-Council for Nursing
Composed of AACN, AONE, NLN and ANA, 
the Tri-Council meets up to four times yearly to 
discuss government affairs initiatives and common
issues of concern.

University HealthSystem Consortium
AACN’s ongoing collaboration with the UHC cen-
ters on the creation and evaluation of a one-year,
post-baccalaureate nursing residency program.

Washington Higher Education Secretariat 
WHES is composed of 50 national, higher education
associations including AACN. The American
Council on Education is the coordinating body that
provides a forum for discussion on education issues
of national and local importance.

Working Group on Nursing Funding
This group holds periodic meetings, arranges joint
Hill meetings, and sends support letters to Congress
on funding for nursing education.
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Emeritus Members
Last affiliation

Kathleen Andreoli, Rush University Medical Center
Billye J. Brown, University of Texas-Austin
Rita Carty, George Mason University
Patricia Castiglia, The University of Texas 

at El Paso
Luther Christman, Rush University
Thelma Cleveland, Washington State University
Anna B. Coles, Howard University
Marcia Curtis, Medical University of 

South Carolina
Tina DeLapp, University of Alaska-Anchorage
Lillian J. DeYoung, University of Akron
Phyllis D. Drennan, University of Missouri-Columbia
Barbara Durand, Arizona State University
Claire M. Fagin, University of Pennsylvania
Lillian R. Goodman, University of Massachusetts-Worcester
Estelle Rosenblum, University of New Mexico 
Elizabeth Grossman, Indiana University
Carolyn Gunning, Texas Woman’s University
Sylvia E. Hart, University of Tennessee-Knoxville
Emily Holmquist, Indiana University
Jacqueline Rose Hott, Adelphi University
Virginia R. Jarratt, University of Arkansas for 

Medical Sciences
Betty Johnson, University of Virginia College 

at Wise
Vickie Lambert, Medical College of Georgia
Ada Lindsey, University of Nebraska 
Gwendoline R. MacDonald, University of South Florida
Shirley A. Martin, University of Missouri-St. Louis
Jean B. Milligan, University of Vermont
Ildauro Murillo-Rohde, SUNY Health Science Center-

Brooklyn
Marie L. O’Koren, University of Alabama at Birmingham
Fostine G. Riddick-Roach, Hampton University
Janet Rodgers, University of San Diego
June S. Rothberg-Blackman, Adelphi University
Marion M. Schrum, University of Nevada
Anna M. Shannon, Montana State University
Joyce Shoemaker, Medical College of Ohio

Emeritus Members (continued)
Gladys Sorensen, University of Arizona
Toni Sullivan, University of Missouri-Columbia
Luth Tenorio, Seattle University
Suzanne Van Ort, University of Arizona
Rosalee C. Yeaworth, University of Nebraska 

Medical Center

Honorary Members
Linda Amos, University of Utah
Carole Anderson, The Ohio State University
Patricia J. Baldwin, York College of Pennsylvania
Evelyn Barritt, University of Iowa
Rachel Booth, University of Alabama-Birmingham
Michael Carter, University of Tennessee-Memphis
Rose Marie Chioni, University of Virginia
Rhetaugh Graves Dumas, 

The University of Michigan
Geraldene Felton, The University of Iowa
Joyce Fitzpatrick, Case Western Reserve University

Membership

Institutional membership is open to any institution offering a baccalaureate or higher-degree nurs-
ing program that meets the following criteria:

❖ is legally authorized to grant the credential to which the program leads,

❖ is regionally accredited, and

❖ is approved by the state agency that has legal authority for educational programs 
in nursing (not applicable to nursing programs over which the state board of 
nursing has no jurisdiction).

The dean or other chief administrative nurse in the nursing program serves as institutional
representative to AACN. Membership dues are $3,165 annually; the fiscal year runs from
July 1- June 30. Other categories of membership are Emeritus, Honorary, and Honorary
Associate, and are conferred to individuals at the discretion of the Board of Directors.

INDIVIDUAL MEMBERSHIP
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Honorary Member
Patricia Forni

AACN President
Jean Bartels with
Honorary Member
Joyce Fitzpatrick.
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Honorary Members (continued)
Patricia Forni, University of Oklahoma
Evelynn Clark Gioiella, Hunter College
Thetis M. Group, Syracuse University
Nan B. Hechenberger, Neumann College
Sharon Hoffman, Spalding University
Mi Ja Kim, University of Illinois-Chicago
Norma Lang, University of Pennsylvania
Madeleine Leininger, Wayne State

University
Clair E. Martin, Cumberland University
Irene Sabelberg Palmer, University of 

San Diego
Myrna R. PickardvUniversity of 

Texas-Arlington
Constance Pratt, Rhode Island College
Barbara K. Redman, University of

Connecticut
Gloria R. Smith, W. K. Kellogg

Foundation
Eleanor J. Sullivan, University of Kansas
Rheba de Tornyay, University of

Washington
Connie VancevThe College of New

Rochelle
Kathryn L. Vigen, Graceland College
Madeline Wake, Marquette University
Jean Watson, University of Colorado

HSC
Alma S. Woolley, Georgetown University

Honorary Associate Members
Ann Douglas, Oakland University
Jo Eleanor Elliott, former director of the

Division of Nursing, U.S. Dept. of
Health and Human Services

Jessie Scott, former director of the
Division of Nursing, U.S. Dept. of
Health and Human Services

AACN STAFF
Geraldine (Polly) Bednash
Executive Director
Jennifer Ahearn
Deputy Executive Director
Robert Rosseter
Associate Executive Director
Annie Alesandrini
Executive Assistant
Lesley Arietti
Gerontology Program Manager
Beth Aronson
Membership Services Manager
Eleanor S. Blackman
Associate Administrative Assistant
Nicole Brown
Project Assistant
Debbie Campbell
Director of Government Affairs
Shana Cohen
Conference Coordinator
Tony Dempsey
Manager of Information Technology
Di Fang
Director of Research and Data
Mona Frole
Receptionist/Staff Assistant
Jessica Holmes
Director of Finance
Jessica Kingsborough
Project Assistant 
Debbie Latimer
Gerontology Project Manager
Pamela Malloy
ELNEC and Secretary’s Award

Projects Director
Kathy McGuinn
Director of Special Projects
William O’Connor
Director of Publications

Horacio Oliveira
Membership Assistant
Francesca Fierro O’Reilly
Associate Director, 

Government Affairs
Ayesha Pathak
Communications Assistant 

and Webmaster
Barbara Penn
Director of Member Education
Heather Shelford
Accounting Coordinator
Joan Stanley
Senior Director of Education Policy
Deirdre Thornlow
Director of Gerontology Projects
Gene Throwe
Government Affairs Assistant
Stefanie Wilsey-Wisniewski
Research and Data Manager

COMMISSION 
ON COLLEGIATE 
NURSING EDUCATION
Jennifer Butlin
Director
Marge Jackman
Associate Director
Crystal Pool
Assistant Director
Libby Cooperman
Executive Administrative Assistant
Janet Harrod
Database Manager
Sarah Jameson
Accreditation Assistant

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
President 
Jean E. Bartels, PhD, RN
Georgia Southern University

President-Elect 
Jeanette Lancaster, PhD, RN, FAAN
University of Virginia

Treasurer 
Eileen Breslin, PhD, RN
University of Massachusetts-Amherst

Secretary 
Kathleen Potempa, DNSc, RN, FAAN
Oregon Health and Science University

Members-At-Large
Lea Acord, PhD, RN
Marquette University
Joan Creasia, PhD, RN
University of Tennessee-Knoxville
Nancy DeBasio, PhD, RN
Research College of Nursing
Melanie Dreher, PhD, RN, FAAN
University of Iowa
Jane Kirschling, DNS, RN
University of Southern Maine
Terry Misener, PhD, RN, FAAN
University of Portland
Roberta Olson, PhD, RN
South Dakota State University

Back Row: Terry Misener, Melanie Dreher, Jane Kirschling, 
Lea Acord, Nancy DeBasio, Joan Creasia, Roberta Olson 
Seated: Kathleen Potempa, Geraldine “Polly” Bednash, 
Jean Bartels, Jeanette Lancaster, Eileen Breslin
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AACN MEMBER SCHOOLS

ALABAMA
Auburn University | Auburn University at
Montgomery | Jacksonville State
University | Oakwood College | Samford
University | Spring Hill College | Troy
State University | Tuskegee University |
University of Alabama | University of
Alabama at Birmingham | University of
Alabama in Huntsville | University of
Mobile | University of North Alabama |
University of South Alabama 

ALASKA
University of Alaska-Anchorage 

ARIZONA 
Arizona State University | Grand Canyon
University | Northern Arizona University |
University of Arizona | University of
Phoenix

ARKANSAS 
Arkansas State University | Arkansas
Tech University | Harding University |
University of Arkansas at Pine Bluff |
University of Arkansas for Medical
Sciences | University of Arkansas-
Fayetteville | University of Central
Arkansas 

CALIFORNIA 
Azusa Pacific University | Biola
University | California Baptist University |
California State University-Bakersfield |
California State University-Chico |
California State University-Dominguez
Hills | California State University-Fresno
| California State University-Fullerton |
California State University-Long Beach |
California State University-Los Angeles |
California State University-Northridge |
California State University-Sacramento |
California State University-San
Bernardino | California State University-
Stanislaus | Dominican University of
California | Holy Names College |
Humboldt State University | Loma Linda
University | Mount St. Mary’s College |
National University | Point Loma
Nazarene University | Samuel Merritt
College | San Diego State University |
San Francisco State University | San
Jose State University | University of
California-Los Angeles | University of
California-San Francisco | University of
San Diego | University of San Francisco |
Western University of Health Sciences

COLORADO
Adams State College | Colorado State
University-Pueblo | Mesa State College |
Metropolitan State College | Regis
University | University of Colorado at

Colorado Springs | University of
Colorado at Denver Health Sciences
Center | University of Northern Colorado

CONNECTICUT 
Central Connecticut State University |
Fairfield University | Quinnipiac College |
Sacred Heart University | Saint Joseph
College | Southern Connecticut State
University | University of Connecticut |
University of Hartford | Western
Connecticut State University | Yale
University

DELAWARE 
Delaware State University | University of
Delaware | Wilmington College

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
Catholic University of America |
Georgetown University | George
Washington University | Howard
University 

FLORIDA 
Barry University | Bethune-Cookman
College | Florida A&M University |
Florida Atlantic University | Florida Gulf
Coast University | Florida International
University | Florida Southern College |
Florida State University | Jacksonville
University | Nova Southeastern
University | Palm Beach Atlantic
University | St. Petersburg College |
University of Central Florida | University
of Florida | University of Miami |
University of North Florida | University of
South Florida | University of Tampa |
University of West Florida

GEORGIA 
Albany State University | Armstrong
Atlantic State University | Brenau
University | Clayton State University |
Columbus State University | Emory
University | Georgia Baptist College of
Nursing | Georgia College and State
University | Georgia Southern University
| Georgia Southwestern State University
| Georgia State University | Kennesaw
State University | Medical College of
Georgia | Piedmont College | University
of West Georgia | Valdosta State
University 

HAWAII 
Hawaii Pacific University | University of
Hawaii at Manoa

IDAHO 
Boise State University | Idaho State
University | Lewis-Clark State College |
Northwest Nazarene University 

ILLINOIS 
Aurora University | Benedictine
University | Blessing-Rieman College of
Nursing | Bradley University | Chicago
State University | DePaul University |
Elmhurst College | Governors State
University | Illinois State University |
Illinois Wesleyan University | Kaplan
University | Lakeview College of Nursing
| Lewis University | Loyola University of
Chicago | MacMurray College |
Mckendree College | Millikin University |
North Park University | Northern Illinois
University | Olivet Nazarene University |
Rush University Medical Center | Saint
Anthony College of Nursing | St. Francis
Medical Center | St. John’s College | St.
Xavier University | Southern Illinois
University | Trinity Christian College |
Trinity College of Nursing and Health
Sciences | University of Illinois at
Chicago | University of Saint Francis-
Illinois | West Suburban College of
Nursing

INDIANA 
Anderson University | Ball State
University | Bethel College of Indiana |
Goshen College | Indiana State
University | Indiana University East |
Indiana University Kokomo | Indiana
University Northwest | Indiana
University-Purdue University (Fort
Wayne) | Indiana University-Purdue
University (Indianapolis) | Indiana
University South Bend | Indiana
University Southeast | Indiana Wesleyan
University | Marian College | Purdue
University | Purdue University-Calumet
Campus | Saint Mary’s College |
University of Evansville | University of
Indianapolis | University of Saint Francis
-Indiana | University of Southern Indiana
| Valparaiso University

IOWA 
Allen College of Nursing | Briar Cliff
University | Clarke College | Coe College
| Grand View College | Luther College |
Mercy College of Health Sciences |
Mount Mercy College | St. Ambrose
University | University of Dubuque |
University of Iowa

KANSAS 
Baker University | Bethel College of
Kansas | Fort Hays State University |
MidAmerica Nazarene University |
Pittsburg State University | Tabor
College | University of Kansas |
University of Saint Mary | Washburn
University | Wichita State University
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KENTUCKY 
Bellarmine University | Berea College |
Eastern Kentucky University | Kentucky
Christian University | Morehead State
University | Murray State University |
Northern Kentucky University | Spalding
University | University of Kentucky |
University of Louisville | Western
Kentucky University 

LOUISIANA 
Dillard University | Grambling State
University | Louisiana College | Louisiana
State University Health Sciences Center
| Loyola University of New Orleans |
McNeese State University | Nicholls
State University | Northwestern State
University of Louisiana | Our Lady of
Holy Cross College | Southeastern
Louisiana University | Southern
University and A&M College | University
of Louisiana at Lafayette | University of
Louisiana at Monroe

MAINE 
Husson College | Saint Joseph’s 
College | University of Maine | University
of Maine-Fort Kent | University of
Southern Maine

MARYLAND 
Bowie State University | College of
Notre Dame of Maryland | Columbia
Union College | Coppin State College |
Johns Hopkins University | Salisbury
University | Towson University |
Uniformed Services University of the
Health Sciences | University of Maryland
| Villa Julie College/Union Memorial
Hospital Nursing Program 

MASSACHUSETTS 
American International College | Boston
College | Curry College | Elms College |
Emmanuel College | Endicott College |
Fitchburg State College | Massachusetts
College of Pharmacy and Allied Health
Sciences | MGH Institute of Health
Professions | Northeastern University |
Regis College | Salem State College |
Simmons College | University of
Massachusetts-Amherst | University of
Massachusetts-Boston | University of
Massachusetts-Dartmouth | University
of Massachusetts-Lowell | University of
Massachusetts-Worcester | Worcester
State College

MICHIGAN 
Andrews University | Calvin College |
Eastern Michigan University | Ferris
State University | Grand Valley State
University | Hope College | Madonna
University | Michigan State University |
Northern Michigan University | Oakland

University | Saginaw Valley State
University | University of Detroit Mercy |
University of Michigan | University of
Michigan-Flint | Wayne State University
| Western Michigan University |

MINNESOTA 
Augsburg College | Bemidji State
University | Bethel College of Minnesota
| College of Saint Benedict/Saint John’s
University | College of St. Catherine |
Metropolitan State University |
Minnesota Intercollegiate Nursing
Consortium | Minnesota State University
at Mankato | St. Cloud State University |
The College of St. Scholastica |
University of Minnesota | Winona 
State University

MISSISSIPPI 
Alcorn State University | Delta State
University | Mississippi College |
Mississippi University for Women |
University of Mississippi Medical Center
| University of Southern Mississippi |
William Carey College

MISSOURI 
Avila College | Barnes-Jewish Hospital
College of Nursing and Allied Health |
Central Methodist University | Central
Missouri State University | Deaconess
College of Nursing | Graceland
University | Lester L. Cox College of
Nursing and Health Sciences | Maryville
University | Missouri Southern State
College | Missouri Western State
College | Research College of Nursing |
Saint Louis University | Saint Luke’s
College | Southeast Missouri State
University | Truman State University |
University of Missouri-Columbia |
University of Missouri-Kansas City |
University of Missouri-St. Louis |
Webster University | William Jewell
College

MONTANA 
Carroll College | Montana State
University

NEBRASKA 
Clarkson College | Creighton University |
Nebraska Methodist College | Nebraska
Wesleyan University | Union College |
University of Nebraska Medical Center

NEVADA 
Nevada State College | Touro University
| University of Nevada-Las Vegas |
University of Nevada-Reno 

NEW HAMPSHIRE 
Colby-Sawyer College | Rivier College |
Saint Anselm College | University of
New Hampshire

NEW JERSEY 
Bloomfield College | Fairleigh Dickinson
University | Felician College | Kean
University | Monmouth University |
Rutgers, The State University of New
Jersey | Rutgers, The State University of
New Jersey-Camden College of Arts and
Sciences | Saint Peter’s College | Seton
Hall University | The College of New
Jersey | The Richard Stockton College of
New Jersey | Thomas Edison State
College | University of Medicine and
Dentistry of New Jersey | William
Paterson University 

NEW MEXICO 
New Mexico State University |
University of New Mexico-Albuquerque

NEW YORK 
Adelphi University | Binghamton
University | College of Mount Saint
Vincent | College of New Rochelle |
College of Staten Island | Columbia
University | Daemen College | Dominican
College | D’Youville College | Elmira
College | Excelsior College | Hartwick
College | Hunter College of CUNY |
Keuka College | Le Moyne College |
Lehman College of CUNY | Long Island
University | Long Island University-C.W.
Post Campus | Mercy College | Molloy
College | Mount Saint Mary College-
New York | Nazareth College | New York
Institute of Technology | New York
University | Pace University | Plattsburgh
State University of New York | Roberts
Wesleyan University | Saint Francis
College | Saint John Fisher College |
SUNY at New Paltz | SUNY at Brockport
| SUNY Downstate Medical Center |
SUNY Institute of Technology at
Utica/Rome | SUNY Upstate Medical
University | SUNY/Stony Brook |
Syracuse University | Teachers College |
The Sage Colleges | University at Buffalo
| University of Rochester | Utica College
| Wagner College

NORTH CAROLINA 
Cabarrus College of Health Sciences |
Duke University | East Carolina
University | Fayetteville State University |
Gardner-Webb University | Lees-McRae
College | Lenoir-Rhyne College | North
Carolina A&T State University | North
Carolina Central University | Queens
University of Charlotte | University of
North Carolina-Chapel Hill | University of
North Carolina-Charlotte | University of
North Carolina-Greensboro | University
of North Carolina at Pembroke |
University of North Carolina-Wilmington
| Western Carolina University | Winston-
Salem State University
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NORTH DAKOTA 
Medcenter One College of Nursing |
North Dakota State University | Tri-
College University | University of Mary |
University of North Dakota |

OHIO 
Ashland University | Capital University |
Case Western Reserve University |
Cedarville University | Cleveland State
University | College of Mount St. Joseph
| Kent State University | Kettering
College of Medical Arts | Lourdes
College | Malone College | Medical
University of Ohio | Mercy College of
Northwest Ohio | Miami University |
Mount Carmel College of Nursing | Ohio
Northern University | Ohio University |
Otterbein College | The Ohio State
University | University of Akron |
University of Cincinnati | Urbana
University | Ursuline College | Walsh
University | Wright State University |
Xavier University

OKLAHOMA 
Northwestern Oklahoma State University
| Oklahoma Wesleyan University |
Southern Nazarene University |
Southwestern Oklahoma State
University | The University of Tulsa |
University of Oklahoma

OREGON 
Concordia University | Linfield College |
Oregon Health and Science University |
University of Portland

PENNSYLVANIA 
Alvernia College | Bloomsburg University
| California University of Pennsylvania |
Cedar Crest College | Clarion University |
College Misericordia | DeSales
University | Drexel University |
Duquesne University | Eastern University
| Edinboro University of Pennsylvania |
Gannon University | Gwynedd-Mercy
College | Holy Family University |
Immaculata College | Indiana University
of Pennsylvania | La Salle University |
Mansfield University | Marywood
University | Messiah College |
Millersville University | Moravian
College | Neumann College |
Pennsylvania State University | Robert
Morris University | Saint Francis
University | Temple University | Thomas
Jefferson University | University of
Pennsylvania | University of Pittsburgh |
University of Scranton | Villanova
University | Waynesburg College | West
Chester University | Widener University |
Wilkes University | York College of
Pennsylvania

PUERTO RICO 
Turabo University | Universidad de
Puerto Rico | University of Puerto Rico-
Mayaguez 

RHODE ISLAND 
Rhode Island College | Salve Regina
University | University of Rhode Island 

SOUTH CAROLINA 
Charleston Southern University |
Clemson University | Medical University
of South Carolina | South Carolina State
University | University of South Carolina
| University of South Carolina-Aiken |
University of South Carolina Upstate

SOUTH DAKOTA 
Augustana College | South Dakota State
University

TENNESSEE 
Austin Peay State University | Baptist
Memorial College of Health Sciences |
Belmont University | Carson-Newman
College | Cumberland University | East
Tennessee State University | King
College | Middle Tennessee State
University | Tennessee State University |
Tennessee Technological University |
Tennessee Wesleyan College | Union
University | University of Memphis |
University of Tennessee-Chattanooga |
University of Tennessee Health Science
Center | University of Tennessee-
Knoxville | Vanderbilt University

TEXAS 
Angelo State University | Baylor
University | East Texas Baptist University
| Lamar University | Midwestern State
University | Patty Hanks Shelton School
of Nursing | Prairie View A&M
University | Southwestern Adventist
University | Tarleton State University |
Texas A&M University-Corpus Christi |
Texas A&M University-Texarkana |
Texas Christian University | Texas Tech
University Health Sciences Center |
Texas Woman’s University | University of
Mary Hardin-Baylor | University of
Texas-Arlington | University of Texas-
Austin | University of Texas-Brownsville
| University of Texas-El Paso | University
of Texas Medical Branch | University of
Texas-Pan American | University of
Texas-Tyler | University of Texas Health
Science Center-San Antonio | University
of Texas Health Science Center-Houston
| University of the Incarnate Word |
West Texas A&M University

UTAH 
Brigham Young University | Southern
Utah University | University of Utah |
Weber State University | Westminster
College

VERMONT 
University of Vermont 

VIRGINIA 
Eastern Mennonite University | George
Mason University | Hampton University |
James Madison University | Jefferson
College of Health Sciences | Liberty
University | Lynchburg College |
Marymount University | Norfolk State
University | Old Dominion University |
Radford University | Shenandoah
University | University of Virginia |
University of Virginia College at Wise |
Virginia Commonwealth University

VIRGIN ISLANDS 
University of the Virgin Islands

WASHINGTON 
Gonzaga University | Northwest
University | Pacific Lutheran University |
Seattle Pacific University | Seattle
University | University of Washington |
Washington State University

WEST VIRGINIA 
Bluefield State College | Marshall
University | Mountain State University |
Shepherd University | University of
Charleston | West Liberty State College |
West Virginia University | Wheeling
Jesuit University

WISCONSIN 
Alverno College | Bellin College of
Nursing | Cardinal Stritch University |
Carroll College | Columbia College of
Nursing | Concordia University
Wisconsin | Edgewood College | Marian
College | Marquette University |
Milwaukee School of Engineering |
University of Wisconsin-Eau Claire |
University of Wisconsin-Green Bay |
University of Wisconsin-Madison |
University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee |
University of Wisconsin-Oshkosh |
Viterbo University

WYOMING 
University of Wyoming
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AACN Online
For the latest news and information on AACN activities and initiatives, visit the

association’s Web site. Members and colleagues are encouraged to login and …

❖ Discover new grants, fellowships, scholarships, and funding sources under 
Opportunity Alerts

❖ Monitor new developments related to the Clinical Nurse Leader and Doctor of 
Nursing Practice initiatives

❖ Review the latest curriculum standards and grant-funded initiatives in the 
Education Center

❖ Download Issue Bulletins, Position Statements, and selected articles from Syllabus

❖ Read the latest news in nursing education in the Media Relations and 
“What’s New” sections

❖ Review the schedule of upcoming conferences and register online

❖ Peruse our Publications Catalog and submit orders online

❖ Search the membership directory, take the expertise survey, and discover other 
Members Only benefits

❖ Stay abreast of legislative issues impacting nursing education

❖ Refer prospective students to the site’s financial aid information and career 
resources like the Professional Nursing Network™

❖ Request customized data reports and benchmarking services

❖ Post advertisements for faculty positions using Career Link

❖ Keep current with CCNE’s accrediting activities

❖ Take advantage of Web resources created for the ELNEC and Gerontology projects

❖ Use the links section to connect with Web sites of all AACN member schools

AACN ON THE WEB:www.aacn.nche.edu

AACN News
Sign up now to receive AACN News Watch, a monthly email advisory covering 
the association’s new initiatives, political advocacy, publications, opportunity 
alerts, conferences, collaborations, and other activities aimed at meeting the 
needs of member institutions.To sign up, send an email request to:
newswatch@aacn.nche.edu.
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